

UWL REPOSITORY

repository.uwl.ac.uk

Resilience of buildings to extreme weather events

Lykartsis, Athanasios (2019) Resilience of buildings to extreme weather events. Doctoral thesis, University of West London.

This is the Accepted Version of the final output.

UWL repository link: https://repository.uwl.ac.uk/id/eprint/6607/

Alternative formats: If you require this document in an alternative format, please contact: <u>open.research@uwl.ac.uk</u>

Copyright:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Take down policy: If you believe that this document breaches copyright, please contact us at <u>open.research@uwl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Resilience of Buildings to Extreme Weather Events

Athanasios Lykartsis

A thesis submitted to the University of West London in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> School of Computing and Technology University of West London London, United Kingdom (May 2019)

Declaration of authorship

I, Athanasios Lykartsis, declare that this thesis entitled, 'Resilience of buildings to extreme weather events' and the work presented in it are my own. I confirm that:

- This work was done wholly or mainly while in candidature for a research degree at this University.
- Where any part of this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this University or any other institution, this has been clearly stated.
- Where I have consulted the published work of others, this is always clearly attributed.
- Where I have quoted from the work of others, the source is always given. With the exception of such quotations, this thesis is entirely my own work.
- I have acknowledged all main sources of help.
- Where the thesis is based on work done by myself jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself.

Signed:

Date:

Abstract

Our climate is changing and the results of that are already visible. The two-month period of December 2013 and January 2014 was for England and Wales one of, if not the most, exceptional periods of winter rainfall in at least 248 years. In addition to that, on July 1st, 2015, at Heathrow, Greater London the highest July temperature on record for the UK was recorded.

Our buildings are already performing poorly under the current weather conditions. Even the buildings that are performing well now may become intolerable for the occupants by 2080. It is therefore important to find ways to increase the resilience of the current building stock and to identify master planning principles for the new buildings.

The scope of this research was to study the resilience of three different types of buildings (high-, medium- and low risk) under extreme weather conditions. The extreme events that were investigated are extreme hot and heavy rain. EDSL TAS, XP SWMM and MicroDrainage simulation software packages were used in order to estimate the thermal and energy performance of the buildings and investigate the effects of heavy rainfall.

There is clear evidence to show that climate change is happening. According to the UK Climate Projections (UKCP09), we can expect warmer and wetter winters, hotter and drier summers, rising sea levels, and more extreme weather events. These extreme weather events in the UK are likely to increase with rising temperatures, causing among others more substantial rainfall events with an increased risk of flooding. Flooding is currently identified as one of the greatest threats to the UK posed by climate change. In addition to that, the UKCP09 show that means daily temperatures will increase everywhere in the United Kingdom. This will significantly affect the and thermal energy performance of the current building stock.

This study presents four case studies where the resilience of the examined buildings is investigated under extreme hot weather events. It looks into the risk of overheating of a school building in 14 locations in the United Kingdom using the overheating criteria defined in Building Bulletin 101 (BB101). It examines three different ventilation modes and quantifies the required amount of cooling loads to achieve thermal comfort conditions. Furthermore, it considers the effect of relative humidity for an office building in London and for the same building, it examines the effect of the window-to-wall ratio on thermal comfort and energy consumption.

This study also evaluates the effect of extreme rainfall events on the resilience of buildings and presents two case studies on this. The first one examines the effect of building development on

the risk of flooding under extreme rainfall for an area that has a very low chance of flooding by modelling two different scenarios of building development. The second case study investigates the effects of sustainable drainage systems on residential developments under extreme rainfall events.

The outcomes of this research present practical approaches of mitigating the effects of extreme hot weather and extreme rainfall events. The research has demonstrated that lower window to wall ratios result in more comfortable conditions and has also shown that a relative humidity control will result in improved thermal comfort conditions for most of the occupied hours during the summer months. This study has also examined a school building and quantified the amount of cooling loads required to comply with the BB101 criteria and presented a comparison between the current and future weather conditions. Additionally, the research results demonstrated that automated control of the opening of the windows results in reduced operative temperatures and improved thermal comfort conditions. This study has also investigated the effect of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) during extreme rainfall and has quantified the effect of three different types of SuDS (permeable water, rainwater harvesting, and attenuation basins) for a new build residential development. It has also shown that building development will increase the risk of flooding from surface water, even for areas with a low chance of flooding.

Table of Contents

DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP	1
ABSTRACT	2
TABLE OF CONTENTS	4
LIST OF FIGURES	8
LIST OF TABLES	10
LIST OF GRAPHS	11
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	12
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS RESULTING FROM THIS THESIS	13
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	14
1.1 RESEARCH BACKGROUND	14
1.2 STATEMENT OF RESEARCH FOCUS, OBJECTIVES AND RESEARCH QUESTIONS	16
1.2.1 RESEARCH FOCUS	16
1.2.2 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	17
1.2.3 RESEARCH QUESTIONS	17
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	22
2.1 RESILIENCE OF BUILDINGS	22
2.2 EXTREME WEATHER EVENTS	23
2.3 UK CLIMATE PROJECTIONS	25
2.4 EXTREME WEATHER EVENTS USED IN THIS THESIS	28
2.4.1 DESIGN SUMMER YEARS (DSY)	28
2.4.2 DEFINITION OF EXTREME RAINFALL	30
2.5 RESPONSES TO EXTREME WEATHER EVENTS	30
2.6 DESIGN SOLUTIONS TO IMPROVE THE RESILIENCE OF BUILDINGS TO EXTREME HOT WEATHER	32
2.6.1 PASSIVE COOLING	32
2.7 FLOODING	38
2.7.1 Types of flooding and flood zones	39
2.7.2 DESIGN FOR FLOOD RISK	40
CHAPTER 3. METHODOLOGY	46
3.1 IDENTIFICATION AND JUSTIFICATION OF THE RESEARCH PARADIGM	46
3.2 RESEARCH DESIGN, PLANNING, AND EXECUTION	47
3.3 MODELLING AND SIMULATION	48

3.3.1 EDSL TAS	48
3.3.2 XP SWMM	50
3.4 EXAMINED BUILDINGS	51
3.4.1 OFFICE BUILDING	51
3.4.2 SCHOOL BUILDING	53
3.4.3 Residential building	55

CHAPTER 4: EFFECT OF WINDOW-TO-WALL RATIO ON THERMAL COMFORT AND ENERGY

CONSUMPTION	58

58
59
60
62
65
67
•

5.1		
5.2	EFFECT OF RELATIVE HUMIDITY ON THERMAL COMFORT	
5.3	ESTIMATION OF THERMAL COMFORT CONDITIONS	71
5.3.	1 Room 1004 (Office)	72
5.4	EFFECT OF RELATIVE HUMIDITY	76
5.5	Conclusions	80

CHAPTER 6: VENTILATION TECHNIQUES TO REDUCE THE RISK OF OVERHEATING OF A SCHOOL

6.1 UK CLIMATE PROJECTIONS	82
6.2 OVERHEATING	
6.3. METHODOLOGY	
6.4 EXAMINED BUILDING	
6.5 VENTILATION MODES	86
6.6 RESULTS	
6.6.1 NATURAL VENTILATION	
6.6.2 MIXED MODE AND MECHANICAL VENTILATION	
6.7 CONCLUSIONS	

7.1 INTRODUCTION	
7.2 LITERATURE REVIEW	
7.2.1 ICT ON SMART HOMES	93
7.2.3 OCCUPANT BEHAVIOR	94
7.2.4 WINDOW OPENING/CLOSING BEHAVIOR	94
7.2.5 ACCEPTABLE THERMAL COMFORT CONDITIONS	95

7.3 METHODOLOGY	96
7.3.1 DESCRIPTION OF THE BUILDING	96
7.3.2 Examined scenarios	
7.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
7.4.1 THERMAL COMFORT	
7.4.2 LIGHTS	100

8.1	INTRODUCTION	
8.2	SURFACE WATER FLOODING	
8.3	EFFECT OF BUILDING DEVELOPMENT	
8.4	EXAMINED AREA	
8.5	MODELLING PROCESS	
8.5.2	1 DTM	
8.5.2	2 RAINFALL	
8.5.3	3 LAND USES	
8.5.4	4 Infiltration	
8.5.5	5 Modelling of the buildings	
8.6	EXAMINED SCENARIOS	
8.7	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	

CHAPTER 9. THE EFFECTS OF SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE SYSTEMS ON RESIDENTIAL

DEVELOPMENTS DURING EXTREME RAINFALL 1	13	3
		_

9.1 INTRODUCTION	
9.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
9.2.1 MODELLING OF THE EXAMINED AREA USING MICRODRAINAGE	116
9.2.2 PERMEABLE PAVING	116
9.2.3 RAINWATER HARVESTING	117
9.2.4 ATTENUATION BASINS	118
9.2.5 MODELLING ASSUMPTIONS	119
9.2.6 Assessment criteria	120
9.3 EXAMINED AREA	
9.4 MODELLED RAINFALL EVENT	
9.5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
9.5.1 BASELINE SCENARIO	124
9.5.2 Permeable paving	126
9.5.3 RAINWATER HARVESTING	128
9.5.4 Attenuation basins	130

10.1 CASE STUDY 1: EFFECT OF WINDOW-TO-WALL RATIO ON THERMAL COMFORT AND ENERGY CONSUMPTIO	
	4
10.2 Case Study 2: Effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort	1
10.3 C ASE STUDY 3 : VENTILATION TECHNIQUES TO REDUCE THE RISK OF OVERHEATING OF A SCHOOL BUILDING	
	4

10.4 CASE STUDY 4: EFFECT OF AUTOMATED NATURAL VENTILATION AND LIGHTING STRATEGY ON THE THEF	₹MAL
COMFORT FOR A RESIDENTIAL BUILDING	. 135
10.5 CASE STUDY 5: EFFECT OF BUILDING DEVELOPMENT ON THE RISK OF THE FLOODING	. 135
10.6 CASE STUDY 6: THE EFFECTS OF SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE SYSTEMS ON RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENTS	ГS
DURING EXTREME RAINFALL	. 136

REFERENCES	

List of Figures

Figure 1 Change in the mean and variance of extreme weather events (Hought	on et al.,
2001)	24
Figure 2 Global emissions of greenhouse gases (Defra, 2009a)	
Figure 3 Global emissions mean temperature changes (Defra, 2009a)	
Figure 4 Changes in mean daily maximum temperatures (Defra, 2009b)	27
Figure 5 Changes (%) in winter mean precipitation (Defra, 2009b)	27
Figure 6 Surviving, adapting and transforming as components of resilience (Se	ource: The
Royal Society, 2014)	
Figure 7 View of the Paragon building (Source uwl.ac.uk)	51
Figure 8 View of the model of the building	
Figure 9 Plan of the first floor of the Paragon building	53
Figure 10 Architectural plan of the school building	
Figure 11 View of the 2D model of the school building	54
Figure 12 3D Model of the building	
Figure 13 Window formation of classrooms	55
Figure 14 3D view of the building model (Front)	56
Figure 15 3D view of the building model (Rear)	56
Figure 16 Residential building - ground floor	
Figure 17Residential building - first floor	57
Figure 18 20% Window-to-wall ratio	
Figure 19 30% Window-to-wall ratio	60
Figure 20 40% Window-to-wall ratio	
Figure 21 50% Window-to-wall ratio	60
Figure 22 60% Window-to-wall ratio	
Figure 23 70% Window-to-wall ratio	61
Figure 24 80% Window-to-wall ratio	
Figure 25 90% Window-to-wall ratio	61
Figure 26 Cooling and lighting loads for the examined WWR in kWh/m2	63
Figure 27 Cooling and lighting loads for the examined WWR in kWh/m2	63
Figure 28 PPD under current weather conditions	
Figure 29PPD under the projected weather conditions	
Figure 30 Mean radiant temperature range at the time of the highest external	temperature

Figure 31 Zoning of the 10th floor and location of room 1004	71
Figure 32 Projected summer mean temperature change ($^{\circ}C$) relative to the 1961-19	<i>)90</i>
baseline (Gething, 2010)	82
Figure 33 2D model of the building created in EDSL TAS	85
Figure 34 3D model of the building created in EDSL TAS	85
Figure 35 Window formation of classrooms	85
Figure 36 Front elevation of the building	97
Figure 37 Zoning of the first floor	97
Figure 38 Comparison of operative temperatures (bedroom 2)	99
Figure 39 Comparison of operative temperatures (bedroom 3)	100
Figure 40 Lighting gains (W)	101
Figure 41 Central estimate of % change in winter precipitation from the 1961-90 b	aseline
across 25hm quares (2080s for the medium emissions scenario) (UKCP09)	102
Figure 42 Examined area	104
Figure 43Modeled rainfall event	106
Figure 44 Scenario 1 - Current condition	108
Figure 45 Scenario 2 - Completed building development	108
Figure 46 Max water depth under current building development	109
Figure 47 Max Hazard (VxD) under current building development	110
Figure 48 Max water depth after completion of building development	110
Figure 49 Max Hazard (VxD) after completion of building development	111
Figure 50 Overview of surface water network for the examined development site	119
Figure 51 Overview of runoff surface breakdown within the development site	121
Figure 52 Pipe diameters within the network	122
Figure 53 Generated subcatchments	123
Figure 54 1000-year baseline flooding locations	124
Figure 55 1000-year flooding locations - permeable paving	126
Figure 56 1000-year flooding locations - rainwater harvesting	129
Figure 57 1000-year flooding locations - attenuated basins	131

List of Tables

Table 1. Probability of flooding for each of the defined flood zones	40
Table 2. Resilient characteristics of building materials	42
Table 3. Flood resilience characteristics of walls (based on laboratory testing)	44
Table 4. U-values of the building elements	52
Table 5. Building fabric U-values (School building)	55
Table 6. Building fabric U-values (Residential building)	56
Table 7. Seven Point thermal sensation scale	59
Table 8. Modelled illuminance levels	62
Table 9. Monthly cooling loads for the examined WWR - Current weather conditions	s64
Table 10. Monthly lighting loads for the examined WWR - current weather condition	ıs64
Table 11. Monthly cooling loads of the examined WWR - Projected weather condition	ons65
Table 12. Monthly lighting loads for the examined WWR - Projected weather condition	ions 65
Table 13. Building fabric U-values	84
Table 14. Compliance with BB101 overheating criteria for current weather condition	s87
Table 15. Compliance with BB101 overheating criteria future weather conditions	88
Table 16. Required amount of cooling loads (kWh) for current weather conditions	89
Table 17. Required amount of cooling loads (kWh) for future weather conditions	90
Table 18. Building fabric U-values	97
Table 20. FEH parameters Error! Bookmark not determine	efined.
Table 20. Sewer diameters and lengths	122
Table 21. Max flood volume critical storm duration for baseline scenario	125
Table 22. Impact of permeable pavement on max flood volume	127
Table 23. Impact of rainwater harvesting on max flood volume	129
Table 24. Impact of attenuation basins on max flood volume	132

List of Graphs

Graph 1. PMV values during the hottest week of the year72
Graph 2. Hourly PMV during occupied hours – Baseline73
Graph 3. Hourly PPD values - Baseline73
Graph 4. Hourly PMV values - Future weather74
Graph 5. Hourly PPD values - Future weather74
Graph 6. Comparison of PMV values during the hottest week of the year
Graph 7. Comparison of the simulates relative humidity between Baseline and future
weather76
Graph 8. PMV values - Future weather - Relative humidity 40%77
Graph 9. PPD values - Future weather - Relative humidity 40%77
Graph 10. Difference of PPD with & without relative humidity control (Future weather).78
Graph 11. Comparison of PMV values during the hottest week of the year - 3 scenarios79
Graph 12. Comparison of PPD values during the hottest week of the year - 3 scenarios 79

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my research supervisors, Dr. Ali Bahadori- Jahromi and Dr. Anastasia Mylona for giving me the opportunity to work on this research topic and for providing invaluable guidance throughout this research. It was a great privilege to work under their guidance, and I am incredibly grateful for what they have offered me. I would also like to thank them for their friendship, empathy, and support during this period.

I am extremely grateful to my parents for their love and support and very much thankful to my beloved partner for her understanding, and continuing support to complete this research work.

List of publications resulting from this Thesis

• Lykartsis, A.; B-Jahromi, A.; and Mylona, A. (2017) Evaluation of thermal comfort and cooling loads for a multistory building, Advances in Energy Research, An International Journal, Vol. 5, No. 1 (2017) 65-77. Techno-Press, ISSN: 2287-6316 (Print), 2287-6324 (Online) DOI: 10.12989/eri.2017.5.1.065

• Lykartsis A, Jahromi B.A, Mylona A, Fadejeva L, Coombs P., (2017), Effect of Building Development on the Risk of Flooding under Extreme Rainfall, 8th International Conference on Complexity, Informatics and Cybernetics, Orlando, USA, 21-24 March 2017, Florida, International Institute of Informatics and Systemics.

• Lykartsis A., Jahromi B.A, Mylona A (2017) Investigating risk of overheating for school buildings under extreme hot weather conditions, Advances in Energy Research, An International Journal, Vol. 5, No. 4 (2017) 277-287 DOI: http://doi.org/10.12989/eri.2017.5.4.277

• Lykartsis A, Jahromi B.A, Mylona A, (2018), Automated Natural Ventilation and Lighting Strategy for a Residential Building under Extreme hot Weather, 12th Society, Cybernetics and Informatics, Orlando, USA, 8-11 July 2018, Florida, International Institute of Informatics and Systemics.

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Research background

Climate change is one of the major concerns the world currently faces (Ji, Lomas and Cook, 2009). Global temperatures are projected to continue to rise, bringing changes in weather patterns, rising sea levels and increased frequency and intensity of extreme weather for the UK (Defra, 2009a). Increasing evidence has shown that the accumulation of greenhouse gases such as CO2 in the atmosphere is the main reason behind global warming (Ji, Lomas, and Cook, 2009). It is very likely (over 90%) that the majority of the observed increase in global average temperatures since the middle of the twentieth century is a result of man-made greenhouse gas emissions. (IPCC, 2007).

The synthesis report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) from 2007 shows an increase of global mean temperatures and water levels and a decrease of global snow coverage over the last 50 years. One of the leading causes is the increased concentration of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. The yearly emission of, for example, carbon dioxide increased from 21 to 38 gigatons in the period between 1970 and 2004 and represented 77% of the total greenhouse gas emissions. This surge is a direct result of burning more fossil fuels and deforestation. Global warming is mainly noticed in more fluctuations in global circulations, leading to more extreme and abnormal weather conditions in certain parts of the world, threatening the local ecosystems (Oosterlee, 2013).

Climate change is not only a challenge of the future. Past examples have shown that buildings are vulnerable to extreme weather conditions and that there is a lack of response mechanisms to deal with these conditions when they happen. We are already seeing changes in the UK climate, with average temperatures rise by around 1°C over the last century. We see a movement towards warmer winters and hotter summers, sea levels around our coast are rising by around 3mm a year, and there is emerging proof of altering rainfall patterns. The heavy rainfall and flooding over the winter of 2015/16 – although they cannot yet be attributed to climate change – illustrate the costs and disruption that can be caused by extreme weather (Committee on Climate Change, 2016).

The memories of the catastrophic consequences of the heavy rainfall of winter 2013 in the UK are still fresh. Catastrophes connected to climate change and extreme weather events do not only cause losses of human lives, but they are also responsible for significant economic losses and long-term indirect impacts on health, education, and productivity.

Buildings are already performing poorly under the current weather conditions, resulting in less comfortable internal conditions for the occupants or higher energy consumption. Considering the projected climate changes, without the application of corrective measures, current building stock might become intolerable for the users in the future. People living in cities will mainly be at a higher risk during hot weather due to the urban heat island effect. Studies have revealed that prolonged exposure to hot conditions can have an adverse effect on human health. Humans, like all warm-blooded animals, must maintain their core temperature within a relatively narrow range for their bodies to function optimally. Exposure to prolonged periods of heat can cause the core temperature to increase, resulting in a decrease of thermal comfort and the onset of a variety of ailments such as the exacerbation of pre-existing respiratory issues, heat stroke, and, in the most severe circumstances, death (Lee, Voogt and Gillespie, 2018). Structural risks due to climate change will also arise, especially in the coastal areas, due to flooding. A substantial quantity of energy is often wasted in buildings because they fail to operate as intended. In addition to that, buildings account for over a third of the total greenhouse emissions in the UK (European Commission, 2015), which profoundly impacts the change in the climate and contributes to the overall warming of the planet.

Climate change is likely to cause an increase in energy demand, mainly for cooling purposes, resulting in escalating greenhouse emissions from the energy sector. Increased energy demand might also have a negative impact on the performance of the electricity grid. Fossil energy production can be adversely affected by air and water temperatures. Extreme weather conditions could result in reduced efficiencies and increased costs. Possible shortages in water supply will also hamper energy production. Increased frequency of extreme weather events will present further challenges in the production and transmission of energy.

Apart from the structural risks to buildings that result from flooding, flooding can also cause damage to the water supply systems and to sewerage and sewage disposal systems, which are crucial for the well-being of societies. Climate change will introduce new

challenges in managing water, both when there is too much (floods) and when there is too little (droughts). Also, there is an established link between heavy rainfalls, flooding, and the subsequent outbreak of infectious diseases. Flooding of sanitation facilities can expose entire communities to health risks. According to the IPCC (2007) and based on several studies, higher water temperatures and changes in extremes, including floods and droughts, are predicted to influence water quality and exacerbate many forms of water pollution.

Considering how climate change and extreme weather events will affect the resilience of our buildings in many ways, it is very likely that the current building stock will face significant challenges in the future, in terms of structural stability, energy efficiency and thermal comfort. Challenges will be different for each type of building. Therefore, it is essential to identify solutions in order to enhance their resilience in the face of climate change, in order for them to be able to withstand the potential shocks caused by climate change and be ready to adapt to the new conditions.

1.2 Statement of research focus, objectives and research questions

1.2.1 Research focus

This research focuses on investigating the effect of extreme weather events on the performance of various types of buildings. More specifically, the weather conditions that are examined are extreme heat waves and heavy rainfall. The three different types of buildings that are considered are:

- Low-risk building Office
- Medium-risk building Dwelling
- High-risk building School

Buildings are classified into different risk categories based on the characteristics of their occupants and their ability to withstand the changes to the internal conditions caused by an extreme weather event. An office building is categorised as a low-risk building as it is likely to be occupied by healthy adults. A dwelling is considered as a medium-risk building since young children and elderly people are often among the occupants. Hospitals and schools are considered high-risk buildings as they house sensitive population groups,

and the preservation of the ideal internal conditions is vital for their health and well-being.

1.2.2 Research objectives

The key objectives of this work are stated below:

- 1. Identify the effect of extreme hot weather on the resilience of buildings under the current and the projected weather conditions. This includes the effect on energy consumption and the thermal comfort conditions.
- 2. Investigate solutions that reduce the energy consumption of the buildings and improve their thermal comfort conditions and quantify their effect under the current and projected weather conditions.
- 3. Identify the effect of extreme rainfall on the resilience of buildings.
- 4. Examine solutions to enhance the resilience of buildings to extreme rainfall. This includes design considerations on a building level and structural flood defenses that influence the resilience of buildings of a greater area.

1.2.3 Research questions

As our climate is changing, we can expect warmer and wetter winters, hotter and drier summers, rising sea levels, and more extreme weather events. This change in the climate will affect the energy, environmental quality, and structural performance of the current building stock. Buildings will be required to consume more energy in order to maintain acceptable living conditions, and as a result, the amount of CO₂ emissions will be increased. Furthermore, buildings will also be more vulnerable to structural and flooding risks due to the increased likelihood of heavy rainfall. - How is the thermal and energy performance of buildings affected when they are subjected to extreme hot weather conditions?

– Which are the most appropriate design and retrofit solutions to mitigate the effect of the examined extreme weather events, and increase the resilience of the building types examined?

- What is the influence of Sustainable Drainage Systems on the resilience of buildings when they are subjected to extreme rainfall events?

1.2.4 Research structure and chapter layout

The structure of this thesis is described below. The work is organised into eight chapters.

Chapter 1. Introduction

This chapter provides information on the background of the research. Furthermore, it states the research focus, research objectives, and research questions.

Chapter 2. Literature review

This chapter offers a literature review of the main issues that determine the objectives of this research. These include the resilience of buildings as a term and a resulting working definition adopted by this thesis, the UK Climate Projections, responses to extreme weather events, the definition of the extreme weather events examined and passive solutions to reduce the risk of overheating. Furthermore, it discusses the most common types of flooding in the UK, considerations to improve the resilience of buildings to flooding and structural and non-structural flood defenses.

Chapter 3. Methodology

This chapter discusses the methodology of this research, which is a quantitative methodology. This chapter provides information on the modeling process followed in the two software packages used by this thesis. Also, it presents the three examined buildings.

Chapter 4. Effect of window-to-wall ratio on thermal comfort and energy consumption

Large window areas allow more daylight into space, but they may also allow excessive heat gains or losses, which increases the air-conditioning cooling or heating load and consequently the energy consumption. This chapter examines the effect of the window-towall ratio on thermal comfort and energy demand for cooling and lighting for a university building. It investigates the difference between cooling and lighting loads between 8 different cases and examines the thermal comfort conditions for each of these cases. The results are presented for the current and the projected weather conditions of the 2050s.

Chapter 5. Effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort

This chapter examines the effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort for a university building. Simulations of the building were performed under the current and projected weather conditions of the 2050s, without relative humidity control, and the resulting thermal comfort conditions were investigated. In the following simulations of the building were performed under the projected weather conditions, with a relative humidity set point set at 40%. A comparison of the thermal comfort conditions between the three examined scenarios is presented for the hottest week of the year.

Chapter 6. Ventilation techniques to reduce the risk of overheating for a school building

This study examined the risk of overheating of a school building, under extreme hot weather conditions, in 14 locations in the United Kingdom using the overheating criteria defined in Building Bulletin 101 (BB101). The building was modeled as naturally ventilated, mechanically ventilated and in mixed mode and was simulated both for the current and the projected weather conditions of the 2050s. Under the current weather conditions, the results of the simulations show that when naturally ventilated, the school building fulfills the BB101 criteria only in the areas of Edinburgh and Glasgow. In the simulations of the building as mechanically ventilated and mixed mode, mechanical cooling was provided in order for the building to comply with the overheating criteria. A comparison of the required cooling loads between the two scenarios shows that the application of mixed mode ventilation results in less cooling loads.

Chapter 7. Automated natural ventilation and lighting strategy for a residential building under extreme hot weather

Lighting systems are responsible for consuming large amounts of energy in buildings all around the world. Automated control systems, intelligent HVAC, and smart lighting can help reduce the energy consumption of buildings and improve the thermal comfort conditions of the occupants. This study considers a typical detached residential building in the United Kingdom and examines the effect of automated natural ventilation and lighting strategy on the energy consumption of the building and the thermal comfort of the occupants. For the purpose of this study, the windows of two bedrooms of the examined building were modeled with a temperature-based control function, and appropriate target illuminance levels were set to control the lighting. This chapter looks into the week with the higher external temperature and uses dynamic thermal simulations in order to assess the performance of the building. Simulations were performed with EDSL TAS software using the Design Summer Year (DSY) weather files from CIBSE. Results of the simulations show that an automated window opening system can reduce the operative temperatures up to 4°C, improve thermal comfort conditions, and reduce lighting gains by 49%.

Chapter 8. Effect of building development on the risk of flooding

There is clear evidence to show that climate change is happening. According to the UK Climate Projections (UKCP09) (Defra, 2009a), we can expect warmer and wetter winters, hotter and drier summers, rising sea levels, and more extreme weather events. These extreme weather events in the UK are likely to increase with rising temperatures, causing among others more substantial rainfall events with an increased risk of flooding. Flooding is currently identified as one of the greatest threats to the UK posed by climate change. In the UK, there is a continuous need for new housing. The UK government has set a goal of 1,000,000 new homes by 2020 in order to cover the country's housing needs. This study examined the effect of building development on the risk of flooding under extreme rainfall, for an area that has a very low chance of flooding. Two different scenarios of building development were modeled using XP SWMM software. The results show that building development increases the maximum water depth and that newly-built houses will flood under extreme rainfall.

Chapter 9. The effects of sustainable drainage systems on residential developments during extreme rainfall

Flooding is identified as the most significant risk, currently and in the short term, across the UK. Climate change and increased urbanisation are likely to intensify the risk of flooding in the near future. Implementation of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) in residential developments could help to control the quantity of runoff and reduce the risk of flooding. This case study examined a new build residential development in the south west of England and investigated the effect of three different types of sustainable drainage systems on the risk of flooding under a rainfall event with a return period of 1000 years.

The examined SuDS were rainwater harvesting, permeable paving, and attenuation basins. The MicroDrainage software package was used to perform the simulations. The results of the simulations show that for the examined development, implementation of attenuation basins provided a 94.8% reduction of the maximum flood volume and permeable paving and rainwater harvesting provided a 33.1% and a 40.3% reduction of the maximum flood volume respectively.

Chapter 10. Conclusions

This chapter highlights the main conclusions of the previous chapters and provides a summary of this work.

Chapter 2. Literature Review

2.1 Resilience of buildings

'Resilience' is a broad term with many definitions, being used in various scientific areas such as physical and ecological systems, disaster risk management, and engineering. Hassler and Kohler (2014) provide a table with the different context-specific definitions of resilience. Common in the definitions given is that the subject should have the ability to withstand potential shocks and adapt to new conditions. The Oxford English Dictionary gives the following definition of resilience: "The quality or fact of being able to recover quickly or easily from, or resist being affected by, a misfortune, shock, illness, etc.". Carpenter et al., 2001 introduced the term 'specified resilience.' Specified resilience arises from the answer to the question "resilience of what to what?" This means that in order to understand the resilience of a system, we must begin by clearly identifying the resilience of a part of the system against a specific threat. However, increasing the resilience of a system against specific disturbances might cause the system to lose resilience in other ways (Cifdaloz et al., 2010). 'General resilience,' in contrast, does not define either the part of the system that might cross a threshold or the kinds of shocks that the system has to endure (Folke et al., 2010). General resilience is about the whole system, and not only a part of it, being able to withstand any potential shock. Furthermore, when considering the resilience of a system, it is essential to specify the time scale (Folke et al., 2010).

The concept of resilience can be applied to the built environment. The built environment includes manmade buildings and infrastructure stocks that constitute the physical, natural, economic, social, and cultural capital. The concept of resilience offers a means to address the long-term evolution of the built environment and to explore the implications of changing conditions on the efficacy of different approaches to planning, design, operation, management, value and governance (Hassler and Kohler, 2014).

The Resilient Design Institute defines resilient design as the intentional design of buildings, landscapes, communities, and regions in order to respond to natural and manmade disasters and disturbances—as well as long-term changes resulting from climate change—including sea level rise, the increased frequency of heat waves, and regional drought (Resilient Design Institute, 2013). Based on the above-given definitions of resilience, in order to define the resilience of a building, it is necessary to clearly identify the building with its components and any possible threats that the building itself or any of its parts might encounter. This also includes the occupants of the building and the resulting thermal comfort conditions when the building is subjected to extreme weather conditions.

A building can be defined as an enclosed structure intended for human occupancy. It includes the structure itself and non-structural components (e.g., cladding, roofing, interior walls and ceilings, HVAC systems, electrical systems) permanently attached to and supported by the structure (National Institute of Building Sciences, 2010). As it arises from the definition of the building, in order for it to be resilient, it should not only be able to withstand structural risks without collapsing, but it should also remain functional for the users.

Thermal comfort conditions within a building are usually achieved with the use of energy sources. Modern comfort options such as central heating and comfort cooling use energy in increasingly sophisticated ways. These changes greatly increase the range of climates we can inhabit comfortably. They also mean we may live in buildings that would not be habitable without using energy and provide acceptable thermal comfort conditions (CIBSE, 2013). Therefore, reducing the energy consumption of a building while maintaining or improving the thermal comfort conditions for the occupants will positively contribute towards the resilience of the building.

2.2 Extreme weather events

An extreme weather event is an event that is rare within its statistical reference distribution at a particular place. Definitions of 'rare' vary, but an extreme weather event would normally be as rare as or rarer than the 10th or 90th percentile. By definition, the characteristics of what is called extreme weather may vary from place to place (IPCC, 2001).

Extreme weather events can cause significant damage, not only immediate loss of lives and assets but also longer-term damage to livelihoods and economies (The Royal Society, 2014). On a global scale, annual material damage from significant weather and climate events has been found to have increased eight-fold between the 1960s and the 1990s.

Between 1980 and 2004, the total costs of extreme weather events 24 totaled US\$ 1.4 trillion (IPCC, 2012).

A range of hypotheses exists concerning how extreme events might alter with climate change. These include the "no change," "mean effect" (increase in mean but not variability), "variance effect" (increase in range) and "structural change" (increase in mean and skew of low probability events) hypotheses (World Health Organization, 2004, p.12). A representation of these methods is shown in Figure 1 below.



Figure 1 Change in the mean and variance of extreme weather events (Houghton et al., 2001)

Two broad approaches are taken to assess these hypotheses: statistical modeling using extreme value theory and modeling using General Circulation Models (GCMs) or Regional Climate Models (RCMs). Both approaches have projected the following outcomes for Europe, which in terms of scientific confidence are rated as 'likely' to 'very likely' (World

Health Organization, 2004):

- More frequent extreme high temperatures and less frequent extreme low temperatures with an associated increase (decrease) in cooling (heating) degree days;
- 2. An increase in daily minimum temperatures in many regions that will exceed the increase for daytime maximum temperatures;
- 3. Daily temperature variability will decrease in winter but increase in summer;
- 4. There will be a general drying of mid-continental areas during summer; and
- 5. There will be an increase in precipitation intensity in some regions.

2.3 UK climate projections

The UK Climate Projections are the main source of climate change information on which research organisations, regulation, and policy-making bodies, and the insurance industry are basing their responses to changes in our climate. It must be remembered, however, that although there are limitations to the robustness of these projections, they represent our current best knowledge on the future UK climate (CIBSE, 2014).

The Projections provide data for three different (high, medium, low) future scenarios of greenhouse gases. These emission scenarios are constructed on different pathways showing how a range of factors, like population, economic growth, and energy usage, might change over time. For the next twenty to thirty years, there is little difference between the scenarios in terms of how they will impact global temperatures. After this point, the effect of different emissions levels becomes substantial, leading to a vast difference between low and high greenhouse gas emission scenarios by the 2080s (Defra, 2009a).

The graphs presented below show the global emissions of greenhouse gases of the three emission scenarios and the global mean temperature rise in each of these scenarios. The black dashed line represents the world stabilisation scenario, which is the emissions pathway needed to achieve the EU's goal to limit global warming to 2°C (Defra, 2009a).



Figure 2 Global emissions of greenhouse gases (Defra, 2009a)



Figure 3 Global emissions mean temperature changes (Defra, 2009a)

The key findings of the UKCP09 show that all areas of the UK will get warmer, more so in summer than in winter. Summer precipitation tends to decrease across the UK, while winter precipitation tends to increase. Also, we can expect rising sea levels and storm surges.

Figure 4 presented below shows the 10, 50, and 90% probability levels of changes to mean daily temperature in summer by the 2080s, under the medium emissions scenario, averaged over administrative regions. It can be observed that the temperature rise will be more significant in the south than in the north of the country.



Figure 4 Changes in mean daily maximum temperatures (Defra, 2009b)

Figure 5 shows the percentage change in winter mean precipitation at the 10, 50, and 90% probability for the 2080s under the medium emissions scenario. In winter, precipitation increases are in the range of +10 to +30% over the majority of the country. Increases are smaller than this in some parts of the country, generally on higher ground (Defra, 2009b).



Figure 5 Changes (%) in winter mean precipitation (Defra, 2009b)

2.4 Extreme weather events used in this thesis

This thesis examines the resilience of buildings to extreme hot weather conditions and extreme rainfall. The Design Summer Year weather data from CIBSE were used in order to examine the performance of the buildings in extreme hot weather. Based on the literature review, this study adopts a definition of extreme rainfall event as an event with a 0.1% chance of happening (1 in 1000 event).

2.4.1 Design Summer Years (DSY)

The DSY was introduced in 2002 to represent a 'near extreme' warm summer, in recognition of the need to have a sequence of warm weather data for use with dynamic thermal simulation programs for the assessment of overheating risk in naturally ventilated and passively cooled ('free running') buildings (CIBSE, 2014c). In 2014, they were revised based on the TM49 methodology that uses 'weighted cooling degree hours' (WCDH) as a metric of summer warmth (CIBSE, 2014c). In addition to that, two more metrics are used to define overheating. These are the conceptual building and the comfort model.

The conceptual building is a building in which the internal operative temperature is equal to the outside dry-bulb temperature at all times. It corresponds physically to a building in which there is always a very high ventilation rate, so that heat gains are quickly removed, and the internal temperature is close to the outside temperature (CIBSE, 2014c). In the adaptive model given in BS EN 15251, the comfort temperature is related to the running mean of the outside dry-bulb temperature, according to the following relationship (CIBSE, 2014c):

$$T_{conf} = 0.33T_{rm} + 18.8 \tag{1}$$

Where:

 $T_{conf}\,$ is the predicted comfort temperature on a given day (°C)

 T_{rm} is the running mean daily average temperature given by:

$$T_{rm} = \alpha T_{rm-1} + (1 - \alpha) T_{mean-1}$$

$$\tag{2}$$

Where:

 α is a constant (0.8),

 T_{rm-1} is the running mean temperature for the proceeding day (°C)

 T_{mean-1} is the average temperature for the proceeding day

Using the definition of the comfort temperature, the WCDH is a quadratic expression given by (Virk and Eames, 2016):

$$WCDH = \sum_{all \ hours} \Delta T^2 \tag{3}$$

and

$$\Delta T = T_{op} - T_c , T_{op} - T_c > 0$$
⁽⁴⁾

where

T_{op} is the internal operative temperature.

The weighting puts a much greater importance on external temperatures which depart further from the comfort temperature. The WCDH approximation is related to the duration of the exceedance event as well as emphasizing more extreme temperatures in order to take into account the severity of the event.

The updated DSYs for London were selected using the WCDH metric for 3 locations within the city. These locations consist of some of the warmest in the UK with a high probability of this overheating metric being exceeded (Virk and Eames, 2016).

The Design Summer Years are available for three different representations of hot events (Eames, 2016). DSY-1 represents a moderately warm summer year, defined as a year with a static weighted cooling degree hour return period closest to 7 years. DSY-2 represents an intense extreme summer, which is chosen as the year with the event which is about the same length as the moderate summer year but has a higher intensity than the moderate summer. Finally, DSY-3 represents the long extreme year, which is determined by the year with a less intense extreme than the high-intensity year, more intense extreme than the moderate summer year duration than the moderate summer year (Virk and Eames, 2016). Unlike to the DSY-1 that has a return period close to 7 years, the return period of the DSY-2 and DSY-3 varies based on the examined location.

2.4.2 Definition of extreme rainfall

Evidence that extreme rainfall intensity is increasing on a global scale has strengthened considerably in recent years. Research now indicates that the most significant increases are likely to occur in short-duration storms lasting less than a day, potentially leading to an increase in the magnitude and frequency of flash floods. Furthermore, several observation-based analyses have indicated that sub-daily extreme rainfall is intensifying more rapidly than daily rainfall (Westra *et al.*, 2014).

In the National Flood Resilience Report published by the Government, it is stated that when we want to assess what extreme flooding looks like we typically model the effects of a scenario with a nominal 0.1% chance of occurring in a year at any given location, using local detailed models (HM Government, 2016).

This thesis adopts this definition of extreme rainfall events, and in the case studies where the resilience of buildings to extreme rainfall is examined, the modeled extreme rainfall events have a 0.1% chance of occurring in a year.

2.5 Responses to extreme weather events

The Royal Society (2014), in its report "Resilience to extreme weather," defines three resilient responses: "surviving," "adapting," and "transforming." Surviving is the initial response and includes withstanding the potential hazards even if this results in a reduced quality of the system. Adapting is a more active response which includes making in order to potentially improve the quality of the system. Transformation goes one step further and includes making fundamental changes to the system (The Royal Society, 2014). The graph below represents these resilient responses against the likelihood and extent of an extreme weather event.



Figure 6 Surviving, adapting and transforming as components of resilience (Source: The Royal Society, 2014)

The IPCC report "Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation" (2012) discusses short- and long-term responses to extreme weather events. As short-term responses, increased resilience, capacity building, broad social benefits from extensive participation in risk management and resilience planning, and the value of multi-hazard planning are mentioned. There is robust evidence in the literature to support disaster risk reduction as a strategy for long-term climate adaptation. Disaster risk reduction denotes both a policy goal or objective, and the strategic and instrumental measures employed for anticipating future disaster risk, reducing existing exposure, hazard, or vulnerability and improving resilience. However, it should be noted that cross-scale (spatial and temporal) interactions between responses focusing on the short term and those required for long-term adjustment can potentially create both synergies and contradictions among disaster risk reduction, climate change adaptation, and development (IPCC, 2012).

Adaptive measures should also be taken with regards to the design of our buildings. The impacts of the changing climate on the built environment can be categorised into those that affect the comfort and energy performance of the building, those that affect the construction and those that relate to managing the water (Gething, 2010). Implementation of passive design strategies, such as high levels of internal thermal mass, careful exclusion

of solar gains, airtight construction, high levels of insulation and shading will be required in order to improve the energy performance of the buildings. Attention should be paid to the design of the foundations and the underground pipework. Three strategies are presented for dealing with flood risk areas: avoidance (not to build in flood risk areas), resistance (dry-proof building), and resilience (wet proofing) (Gething, 2010). In order to build confidence in our adaptation responses, it is essential that detailed on-site monitoring of how buildings behave in reality is cross-checked against the models that were used to design them (Gething and Puckett, 2013).

Climate change also affects human health and well-being. Responding to the health challenges posed by climate change requires a multilevel, interdisciplinary, and integrated response, so efforts should focus on developing partnerships among federal, state, and local government agencies, academia, nongovernmental organizations, and the private sector (Frumkin et al., 2008). In Europe, following the heatwave of 2003, there has been a strong commitment to building resilience at the city, regional, and national levels. Public health measures include media announcements, telephone help-lines cooling centers, special emergency service preparedness, home reach and evacuation, outreach to the homeless and utilities companies stopping disconnection for non-payment (The Royal Society, 2014).

2.6 Design solutions to improve the resilience of buildings to extreme hot weather

2.6.1 Passive cooling

Passive cooling is commonly understood as a set of natural processes and techniques to reduce indoor temperatures in opposition to the use of 'active' mechanical equipment (Prieto *et al.*, 2018). Maintaining a comfortable environment within a building in a hot climate relies on reducing the rate of heat gains into the building and encouraging the removal of excess heat from the building. To prevent heat from entering into the building or to remove it once it has entered is the underlying principle for achieving cooling in passive cooling concepts (Kamal, 2012). The most commonly adopted passive cooling measures include shading of the building, improvements in the glazing quality, ventilation, installation of green roofs, and an increase in the insulation and thermal mass of the building.

2.6.1.1 Shading

The main function of a shading system is the protection of the building's transparent envelope from solar radiation in summer conditions, so preventing overheating by blocking the access of unwanted energy flow into the building (Bellia, De Falco and Minichiello, 2013).

In addition to the architectural features, the shading effect (either by external objects or by the building itself) can also affect the thermal and energy performance of a building (Chan, 2012). For dwellings and conservatories, shading is the most direct and effective passive solar method of avoiding overheating. Shading effectiveness is obtained by preventing the transmission of unwanted solar radiation into the building envelope (Amoako-attah, 2015). This helps to reduce the amount of cooling loads required in order to achieve the desired thermal comfort conditions within the building.

Shading devices are classified into three categories based on their position on the glazing unit (external, internal, and mid-glass panes). External devices include horizontal projections, vertical fins, louvers, roof overhangs, and window reveals. Of the various types of shading system, external devices are the most effective in decreasing heat gains because they intercept and dissipate (mainly by convection) most of the heat in solar radiation before it reaches the building surface (European Commission, 1999). In the case of internal shading devices, such as interior blinds or drapes, the solar radiation goes through the glass and hits the shade, effectively heating it. Because of this, the effectiveness of most internal shades in preventing heat gain in the internal space is limited. Internal devices protect occupants against the immediate effects of direct sunlight and glare, but most of the heat absorbed is released into the room by convection (Uspenskiy, 2013). The mid glass pane shading systems are the construction of double or triple glazing with integrated shading systems between the panels. Examples of interpane sunshades are Venetian blinds, fabric screens, pleated curtains, and roller blinds (Hastings *et al.*, 2007).

2.6.1.2 Glazing

Although windows are the primary medium for the lighting of a building, they contribute considerably to the building's energy consumption, either commercial or residential (Gorgolis and Karamanis, 2015).

There are two main factors characterising windows' energy performance: the U-value and the g-value (or Solar Heat Gain Coefficient, SHGC) (Gorgolis and Karamanis, 2015). The U-value is the rate of heat loss or the energy transferred between the inner and outer of a building. It includes heat which is transferred through convection, thermal radiation (without solar radiation) and conduction. Both glazing and framing or only the center-of-glass heat loss can be expressed per time, area, and temperature difference (W/m2 K). The g-value is the part of solar radiation that passes through the window inside the building. Because the g-value includes solar radiation, which is absorbed and then is re-emitted, glazing surfaces have a significant impact on it. Except for these two values, transmittance in visible is another crucial factor for apparent reasons (Gorgolis and Karamanis, 2015). For passive solar heating applications, windows with a low U-value and high total solar energy transmittance are preferred (Sadineni, Madala, and Boehm, 2011).

Low emissivity glass is commonly used to reduce solar heat gains since they offer a virtually clear appearance, admit more daylight, and permit much brighter, more open views to the outside (Wolf, 2006). Low-emissivity (Low-e) glass is made by applying thin metal coatings (for example, clear silver or tin oxide) on the glass (Mohelníková and Altan, 2009). Higher solar control efficiency can be achieved with the application of two reflective layers in the coating stack. These coatings are referred to as 'low-E²'; they cause little change in daylight transmittance, but reduce solar heat gain by 50-70%, compared to conventional low-E coatings (Wolf, 2006).

2.6.1.3 Ventilation

Ventilation is one of the most essential needs of a building as it maintains the indoor air quality necessary for health and well-being (Hacker, JN, Belcher, SE & Connell, 2005). In a free-running building, natural ventilation is the principal means of removing heat.
During the summer night time, ventilation strategies can be adopted to cool down the building and improve the thermal comfort conditions for the occupants. Ceiling fans can also be used to increase indoor air movement and raise the convective heat transfer coefficient, which facilitates the process of rejecting heat from massive walls at night (Balaras, 1996).

Mixed mode ventilation comprises the use of natural ventilation and mechanical cooling with the aim of reducing the amount of energy required to achieve thermal comfort conditions. It is essentially the provision of the least amount of mechanical air movement and cooling that can still achieve the conditions required (CIBSE, 2004). Mixed-mode or hybrid cooling systems are designed to make maximum use of passive cooling methods but incorporate supplementary mechanical cooling systems for use in the most extreme conditions (Ezzeldin and Rees, 2013). Although natural ventilation on its own is only applicable to a narrow range of climates, a hybrid ventilation system, using a natural ventilation strategy combined with a mechanical system, can extend the applicability of natural ventilation in more severe climatic conditions (Ji, Lomas, and Cook, 2009). Naturally ventilated buildings should be designed with a relatively narrow plan form to facilitate the passage of air through the building (Aynsley, 2007). Cross ventilation can achieve a high air change rate and ventilate a deeper floor plate than single sided ventilation (BSRIA, 2009).

Cooling energy requirements can be reduced by using low-energy technologies (Kolokotroni and Aronis, 1999). Of the available technologies, night ventilation is particularly suited to office buildings because these are usually not occupied during the night. Night ventilation can affect internal conditions during the day in four ways:

- reducing peak air-temperatures
- reducing air temperatures throughout the day, and in particular during the morning hours
- reducing slab temperatures
- creating a time lag between the occurrence of external and internal maximum temperatures

2.6.1.4 Green roofs

A building roof that is either wholly or partially covered with a layer of vegetation is called a green roof (Sadineni, Madala and Boehm, 2011). Roofs are an important part of the building envelopes that are very susceptible to solar radiation and other environmental changes, thereby influencing the indoor comfort conditions for the occupants (Sadineni, Madala, and Boehm, 2011). Green roofs help to reduce the urban island effect and reduce heat gains by a combination of thermal mass, a degree of insulation and evapotranspiration (Gething and Puckett, 2013).

There are two categories of green roofs: intensive and extensive (Sadineni, Madala and Boehm, 2011). Intensive green roofs have a deeper substrate layer and allow the cultivation of deep rooting plants such as shrubs and trees. Extensive green roofs have a thinner substrate layer, which allows the growth of low-level planting such as lawn or sedum (Sadineni, Madala, and Boehm, 2011).

The effectiveness of cooling achieved by the application of green roofs is highly dependent on wind speed and on keeping the soil damp. High wind speeds reduce the cooling effect by removing the cooled air produced by transpiration on the surface of the grass roof. Keeping the soil damp is also crucial because the cooling effect of evapotranspiration will no longer be available if the soil dries out (Gething and Puckett, 2013).

In the case of green walls, putting on a foliage cover to the external wall of a building will influence the building's energy consumption. Compared to a bare wall, the foliage cover reduces the heat transfer rate between the indoor and outdoor climate, as the surface temperatures of green walls show a more stable course (Oosterlee, 2013).

Green facades are climbing plants grown either directly against, or on support constructions affixed to exterior building walls. Similar to other forms of green infrastructure, they are increasingly being considered as a design feature to cool internal building temperatures, decrease building energy consumption and facilitate urban adaptation to a warming climate (Hunter *et al.*, 2014).

The peer-reviewed literature published in English indicates that green facades promise to deliver the most considerable cooling and energy-saving benefits in climates with hot, dry

summers and for buildings with westerly aspects (Hunter *et al.*, 2014). In their review they argue that the integration of concepts and methods from plant biology, ecology, horticulture, and soil science is crucial to the development of this emerging field.

2.6.1.5 Insulation

The result of the use of insulation is to lessen heat gain and heat loss. Insulation also influences the interior mean radiant temperature (MRT) by isolating the interior surfaces from the effect of the exterior conditions and also decreases draughts produced by temperature differences between walls and air (Kamal, 2012).

In summer, this can have two effects: a beneficial one of preventing heat from entering the building during the day and a negative one of preventing heat escaping at night. In summer, insulation can also have the beneficial effect of preventing the heat that builds up in the building's external facade as the sun shines on it reaching indoors (Hacker, JN, Belcher, SE & Connell, 2005).

2.6.1.6 Thermal mass

The thermal mass of a building determines its ability to store heat energy, as either sensible or latent heat, and this, in turn, can have a significant influence on indoor temperatures, power requirements and occupant comfort (Reilly and Kinnane, 2017). Thermal mass has a positive effect on thermal comfort (Balaras, 1996). This is because thermal mass has the beneficial effect of reducing peak indoor temperatures. However, it can also have the adverse effect of keeping a building warmer at night. For this reason, to be effective at moderating temperature, thermal mass needs to be combined with night ventilation to remove the heat absorbed during the day (Hacker, JN, Belcher, SE & Connell, 2005).

The location of thermal mass is essential. One may distinguish two cases, based on whether the heat storage material receives energy by solar radiation (direct) or by IR radiation and room air convection (indirect). Direct heat gains are experienced by the outer building envelope, which is exposed to solar radiation and by the interior surfaces, which may absorb incident solar radiation as it enters through the building's openings. Indirect heat gains are experienced by opaque elements inside the building from the energy which is transferred indoors from direct gain surfaces. Direct locations are much more effective than indirect for placing heat storage mass (Balaras, 1996).

The thermal mass optimization is affected by the thermo-physical properties of the building material, building orientation, thermal insulation, ventilation, auxiliary cooling systems, and occupancy patterns (Sadineni, Madala, and Boehm, 2011).

2.7 Flooding

Climate change is expected to increase the severity, frequency, and extent of flooding. According to research, an estimated 1.8 million people are residing in regions of the UK at significant risk of river, surface water or coastal flooding. The population residing in such areas is expected to rise to 2.6 million by the 2050s under a 2°C scenario and 3.3 million below a 4°C scenario, assuming low population growth and a continuation of current levels of adaptation (Kovats, Osborn and Whitman, 2017).

Analysis conducted for the Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 suggests that 0.5 to 1 meter of sea level rise could make some 200km of coastal flood defenses in England highly exposed to failure in storm conditions. Sea level rise and increased wave action will make it increasingly difficult and costly to maintain current sea defense lines in some areas.

Flooding is debatably the weather-related hazard that is most widespread around the globe. A flood is defined as water overflowing onto land that usually is dry (C A Doswell III, 2003).

Flooding is recognised as the most significant risk, currently and in the short term, across the UK (Defra, 2012). Around 5.2 million properties are at risk of flooding in England. Annual flood damage costs are in the region of ± 1.1 billion. These costs could rise to as much as ± 27 billion by 2080 (Bennett and Hartwell-Naguib, 2014). Floods can also have dangerous indirect impacts, including damage to critical energy, water, communications, and transport infrastructure. They can also affect with essential public services such as schools and hospitals (Environmental Agency, 2009).

2.7.1 Types of flooding and flood zones

In England, the most frequent forms of floods are (Environmental Agency, 2009):

- **River flooding** that happens when a watercourse is unable to cope with the water draining into it from the nearby land. This can happen, for example, when heavy rain falls on an already waterlogged catchment.
- **Coastal flooding** that results from a combination of high tides and stormy conditions. If low atmospheric pressure concurs with a high tide, a tidal surge may happen, which can result in severe flooding.
- **Surface water flooding** which occurs when significant rainfall overwhelms the drainage volume of the surrounding area. It is challenging to forecast and pinpoint, much more so than river or coastal flooding.
- Sewer flooding that occurs when sewers are overwhelmed by heavy rainfall or when they become blocked. The likelihood of flooding depends on the capacity of the local sewerage system. Land and property can be flooded with water contaminated with raw sewage as a result. Rivers can also become polluted by sewer overflows.
- **Groundwater flooding** that occurs when water levels in the ground rise above surface levels. It is most probable to happen in zones underlain by permeable rocks, called aquifers. These can be extensive, regional aquifers, such as chalk or sandstone, or may be more local sand or river gravels in valley bottoms underlain by less permeable rocks.

Flood zones have been established by the Environmental Agency to be used within the planning process as a starting point in determining how likely somewhere is to flood. Planning Policy Statement 25 states that planners should steer development to Flood Zone 1, the zone of lowest flood risk, wherever possible. Where there are no sensibly available sites in Flood Zone 1, planners should consider reasonably available sites in Flood Zone 2, applying the Exception Test if necessary. Only where there are no reasonably available sites in Flood Zones 1 or 2, should sites in Flood Zone 3 be considered (Communities and Local Government, 2010).

Table 1 Probability of flooding for each of the defined flood zones (Planning Practice Guidance 25)

Flood Zone	Definition
Zone 1 Low Probability	Land having a less than 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river or sea flooding. (Shown as 'clear' on the Flood Map – all land outside Zones 2 and 3)
Zone 2 Medium Probability	Land having between a 1 in 100 and 1 in 1,000 annual probability of river flooding; or Land having between a 1 in 200 and 1 in 1,000 annual probability of sea flooding.
Zone 3a High Probability	Land having a 1 in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding; or Land having a 1 in 200 or greater annual probability of sea flooding.
Zone 3b The Functional Floodplain	This zone comprises land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. Local planning authorities should identify in their Strategic Flood Risk Assessments areas of functional floodplain and their boundaries accordingly, in agreement with the Environment Agency.

Planning practice guidance also classifies buildings according to their flood risk vulnerability. Among others, basement dwellings, caravans, mobile homes and park homes intended for permanent residential use are classified as 'highly vulnerable'. Under 'more vulnerable' are classified the hospitals, buildings used for dwelling houses or student halls and residential institutions such as residential care homes and children's services homes. 'Less vulnerable' are classified buildings used for shops, financial, professional and other services and buildings used for agriculture and forestry (Communities and Local Government, 2010).

2.7.2 Design for flood risk

Flood risk is a design challenge that is becoming increasingly relevant for several reasons (RIBA, 2009). As discussed in Section 2.3, the UK Climate Projections show that we can

expect to have an increase in the annual mean precipitation. Especially in the winter, precipitation increases are in the range of +10% to +30% over the majority of the country (Defra, 2009b). Furthermore, climate change is predicted to cause more extreme weather patterns. As a result, there will be a higher risk of tidal flooding, inland flooding from rivers and surface water run-off.

In addition to that, the risk of flooding is intensified by the heightened need for new housing and the increasing urbanisation. Higher densities of development reduce the amount of natural soak-away available and strain the existing drainage infrastructure. Moreover, the pressure for new housing and the current policies that prioritise the regeneration of brownfield land, much of which is already at flood risk, could result in more development within the floodplain (RIBA, 2009).

Therefore, in order to mitigate the risk of flooding, it is essential to identify design considerations that will better the resilience of buildings to flooding and determine suitable structural and non-structural flood defenses for each area.

2.7.2.1 Building design considerations

Flood-resilient buildings are designed and built to decrease the effect of flood water coming into the building so that no long-lasting impairment is caused, structural integrity is maintained, and drying and cleaning are easier (GOV.UK, 2014). It is generally accepted that total prevention of water ingress or "dry proofing" of a building is challenging to achieve. There are two main strategies that are recommended in order to improve the resilience of buildings to flooding, and their applicability depends on the water depth that the property is subjected to. These strategies are the water entry strategy and the water exclusion strategy. Flood depth is considered to be the main parameter in the design strategy since this will determine whether it is feasible to try to exclude and/or delay floodwater from entering the property. The definitions of the water entry strategy and the water exclusion strategy are presented below (Bowker, Escarameia and Tagg, 2007).

Water exclusion strategy: This strategy is favored when low flood water depths are involved (not more than 0.3m). Emphasis is placed on minimizing water entry while

maintaining structural integrity, and on using materials and construction techniques to facilitate drying and cleaning.

Water entry strategy: This strategy is, therefore favored when high flood water depths are involved (greater than 0.6m). Emphasis is placed on permitting water into the building, facilitating draining and consequent drying.

Each building should be individually assessed in order to identify the required building materials in order to achieve the required levels of flood resistance. In areas that have a high flood risk, building materials that have increased resistance to water penetration, drying ability, integrity, and retention of pre-flood dimensions should be considered. Table 2 provides a list of building materials and their rating against flood resilient criteria.

Denser materials like concrete and bricks are found to have good resilience characteristics. (Bowker, Escarameia and Tagg, 2007). Building materials that are effective for "water exclusion strategy" include engineering bricks, cement-based materials including water retaining concrete and dense stone. Building materials that are suitable for "water entry strategy" include: facing bricks, concrete blocks, sacrificial, or easily removable external finishes or internal linings (Bowker, Escarameia and Tagg, 2007).

Material	Resilience characteristics*						
	Water penetration	Drying ability	Retention of pre-flood dimensions, integrity				
Bricks							
Engineering bricks (Classes A and B)	Good	Good	Good				
Facing bricks (pressed)	Medium	Medium	Good				
Facing bricks (handmade)	Poor	Poor	Poor				
Blocks							
Concrete (3.5N, 7N)	Poor	Medium	Good				
Aircrete	Medium	Poor	Good				
Timber board							
OSB2, 11mm thick	Medium	Poor	Poor				
OSB3, 18mm thick	Medium	Poor	Poor				
Gypsum plasterboard							
Gypsum Plasterboard, 9mm thick	Poor	Not assessed	Poor				
Mortars							
Below d.p.c. 1:3(cement:sand)	Good	Good	Good				
Above d.p.c. 1:6(cement:sand)	Good	Good	Good				
* Resilience characteristics are related to the testing carried out and exclude aspects such as ability to withstand							

freeze/thaw cycles, cleanability and mould growth

Table 2 Resilient characteristics of building materials (Communities and local government, 2007)

The type of foundation used in a building is usually determined by the ground conditions. However, improvements can be made to increase the flood resilience characteristics of a foundation. Laboratory work carried by CIRIA shows that groundwater can penetrate through the blockwork in cavity walls. Therefore, attention should be taken to minimise the passage of water. As a general principle, water exclusion strategy should be adopted in foundations when predicted flood depth is less than 0.3m above the floor level. Similarly, when the flood water depth is greater than 0.3m, water entry strategy should be adopted for foundations. When the water entry strategy is adopted, the foundation should be constructed using durable materials that will not be affected by water and should use construction methods and materials that promote easy draining and drying (Northumberland County Council, 2010).

In a flood event, the performance of ground floors can be affected by the water ingress from the ground and exposure to standing water. From the above two situations, water ingress from the ground is potentially more sever as it is possible to affect the structural integrity of the floor. Hence calculations should be carried out to ensure that floor has the necessary strength to resist uplifting forces and deformations (Northumberland County Council, 2010).

One of the most efficient ways of decreasing the impact of flooding is to raise the floor level of the property above expected flood levels. However, for existing houses, this will not usually be possible (CIRIA, 2003). For existing buildings with a solid floor, it should be investigated if a good connection between the damp-proof membrane for the floor and the damp proof course in the wall is in place. It should also be inspected if there are cracks in existing floors, as they may allow water through the floor into the building. For buildings with suspended floors, a low point can be created in the surface of the soil or concrete sub-floor. This will assist in cleaning and drainage after a flood. Alternatively, the void can be filled to reduce the rate of future water ingress and prevent 'puddles' of water remaining inside the property for a long time after flooding (CIRIA, 2003).

Following the laboratory investigations carried out by CIRIA, wall components were categorised as good, medium, or poor with regards to their water penetration, surface drying, and structural integrity performance. Table 3 presented below, rates the

performance of various wall components based on the resilience characteristics mentioned above.

Material	Resilience characteristics*					
	Water penetration	Drying Ability	Retention of pre-flood dimensions, integrity			
External face						
Engineering bricks (Classes A and B)	Good	Good	Good			
Facing bricks (pressed)	Medium	Medium	Good			
Internal face						
Concrete blocks	Poor	Medium	Good			
Aircrete	Medium	Poor	Good			
Cavity insulation						
Mineral fibre	Poor	Poor	Poor			
Blown-in expanded mica	Poor	Poor	Poor			
Rigid PU foam	Medium	Medium	Good			
Renders/Plaster						
Cement render – external	Good	Good	Good			
Cement/lime render – external	Good	Good	Good			
Gypsum Plasterboard	Poor	Not assessed	Poor			
Lime plaster (young)	Poor	Not assessed	Poor			
* Resilience characteristics are related to the testing carried out and exclude aspects such as ability to withstand freeze/thaw cycles, cleanability and mould growth						

Table 3 Flood resilience characteristics of walls (based on laboratory testing)(Bowker, Escarameia and Tagg, 2007)

For masonry walls, the mortar joints should be thoroughly filled to reduce the risk of water penetration. Solid masonry walls are a good option but will need to be fitted with internal or external wall insulation in order to comply with Building Regulations (Bowker, Escarameia and Tagg, 2007).

Cavity walls with no insulation have better flood resilient characteristics as they promote rapid dry after a flood event. The requirements for insulation can be satisfied by external insulated render or internal thermal boards (Bowker, Escarameia and Tagg, 2007).

Where the frequency of flooding is high, reinforced concrete walls should be considered in the water exclusion strategy as these walls provide sufficient resisting forces to the pressures generated by flood water. External insulation is recommended rather than the internal insulation because it can be easily replaced if necessary (Bowker, Escarameia and Tagg, 2007).

2.7.2.2 Flood Defenses

In general, flood defenses can be divided into two broad categories; structural and nonstructural defense measures. Structural measures include the construction of dams and reservoirs, while non-structural measures include planning, preparedness, legislation, and financing.

Structural measures are an important reactive mitigation measure to reinforce flood defense structures with the aim to protect human health and safety, and valuable goods and property. Structural measures may present in many different ways, such as flood defense structures (dams, reservoirs), channel and catchment modification (floodway and flood plain), and flood proofing (embankment) (Defra and Environment Agency, 2007).

Non-structural measures are an anticipatory response for flood hazard management. The review showed that many different methods had been adopted for non-structural measures. Defra and the Environment Agency in their report Risk assessment for flood incident management define four mitigation measures. These measures are flood warning and forecasting, emergency planning, evacuation measures, and public education (Defra and Environment Agency, 2007).

Chapter 3. Methodology

3.1 Identification and justification of the research paradigm

Thomas Kuhn (1996) defines a paradigm as accepted examples of actual scientific practice - examples which include law, theory, application, and instrumentation together - providing models from which spring particular coherent traditions of scientific research (Kuhn, 1996). The paradigm to be used in this study is based on the positivism research paradigm approach.

Much of the modern philosophy of science simply elaborates upon various empiricist positions, most notably the radical empiricist stance is known as positivism (Caldwell, 1980). The positivist paradigm asserts that real events can be observed empirically and explained with logical analysis (Kaboub, 2008). A positivist investigator has an idea or notion that the universe or world conforms to permanent and unchanging laws and rules of causation and happenings, that there exists an intricacy and complexity that could be overcome by reductionism; and with the intention of asserting an importance and emphasis on impartiality, measurement, objectivity and repeatability (Aliyu *et al.*, 2014).

A quantitative methodology was used for this research. The positivist research paradigm underpins a quantitative methodology (Antwi and Hamza, 2015). Creswell (1994) defines quantitative research as a type of research that explains phenomena by gathering numerical data that are analysed using mathematically based methods. In addition to that, quantitative research methods attempt to maximise objectivity, replicability, and generalisability of findings and are typically interested in prediction (Harwell, 2011). The data in this study are expressed in numeric terms, such as dimensions, temperature, time, and percentages. Furthermore, the aim of this research is to analyse the required data and make predictions about the performance of buildings under extreme weather conditions.

Quantitative approaches, when they are appropriately conducted, permit generalisations to be made about large populations based on much smaller (representative) samples. Further advantages are that, given a set of identifying conditions, they can assist in establishing the causality of the impact of given variables on project outcomes and (in principle) they allow other researchers to validate the original findings by independently replicating the analysis (Rao and Woolcock, 2003).

3.2 Research design, planning, and execution

Initially, the research focused on providing definitions of the examined extreme weather events. These definitions arose from the study of the literature and the current weather data of each location. Furthermore, it provided a definition of the term "Resilience of building" in order to justify the extent and the context of the research.

The current and most up-to-date TRY and DSY weather files were provided by CIBSE for the execution of the simulations. Simulations were performed using both the weather data of the current weather conditions and weather data of extreme weather conditions in order to evaluate the impact each extreme weather event has on the building's performance. As mentioned above, this research examines three different types of buildings. Plans and elevations of the examined building were acquired in order to create the model of the building. For the buildings where actual energy consumption data exist, they have also been gathered and used for the validation of the results of the simulations. This research used two software packages:

- EDSL TAS Thermal and energy simulation.
- XP SWMM Water management simulation.

Upon the creation of the models in EDSL TAS, the simulation was initially done using the current weather data. The model of the building is created in the software and validated by comparing the actual energy consumption of the building with energy consumption of the building provided by the simulation. Subsequently, the simulation is performed again using the weather data that correspond to the examined extreme weather conditions. The comparison of the results with the results obtained from the initial simulation shows how the thermal performance of the building is affected when it is subjected to extreme heat waves.

The effects of heavy rainfall on the buildings were simulated using the XP SWMM software. In this case, not only the building but also the surrounding area was modelled. A comparison between the results of the simulation using the current weather conditions and the one using extreme weather conditions was made in order to identify potential risks for each of the examined buildings. The research looks into building design solutions to

increase the resilience of building against extreme rainfall, flood defenses, drainage system design, and water supply solutions.

Upon completion of the simulations for all the examined extreme weather conditions and based on the definition of the term "Resilience of building," the research was able to identify how and to what extent the resilience of the building is affected by each extreme weather event.

Applicable solutions were analysed and presented for each of the examined scenarios in order to enhance the resilience of the building. Proposed solutions were tested using the building models in order to validate their efficiency in increasing the resilience of the buildings to the extreme events under investigation. Finally based on the findings, the research is able to provide design guidelines to be used in new and existing built constructions.

3.3 Modelling and simulation

This study made use of two software packages. EDSL TAS was used for the thermal and energy simulations of the examined buildings, and XP SWMM was used for the simulation of the flooding events.

3.3.1 EDSL TAS

Thermal simulations of the examined buildings were performed using EDSL TAS version 9.3.2, a building simulation program developed by Engineering Development Solution Software. TAS is a building modeling and simulation tool, capable of performing dynamic thermal simulations of buildings and accurately predicting energy consumption, C0₂ emissions, operating costs, and occupant comfort (EDSL, 2015a).

The modeling process of a building in EDSL TAS is divided into three parts. The first part is the creation of the 3D model of the building, the second part is the assignment of the various building characteristics, and the third part is the simulation of the building. Creation of the building's 3D model was performed in the TAS 3D Modeler (.t3d). The first step is to import the building's floor plans to the model and identify the height of the walls. The next step is to create the required building elements and the windows of the building. Based on the imported drawings, the user creates a model of floors, assigns the building elements to the walls and positions the windows. Finally, the user identifies the different zones of the building and assigns a name to them. Upon completion of the modelling of each floor, a validation of the model is required in order to check if there are any errors or warnings. The same process is repeated for all the floors of the building. When the 3D modeling of the building is completed the model is exported to the TAS Building Simulator (.tbd). At this point, the user needs to identify the building's construction materials, its internal conditions, and assign a suitable calendar and weather file. Construction should be applied to all the building elements that were created in the 3D Modeler. If the exact construction of a building element is not available in the TAS Construction Library, the user can create a new construction in order to correctly represent the actual construction of the examined building. Following that, appropriate internal conditions should be applied to the zones of the building based on the building type and the use of the zone. In addition to that, a calendar is assigned to the building. This is used to identify different types of days where the building has a different operation schedule. Finally, the user assigns to the model a weather file that represents the weather conditions of the location of the building.

Following the input of the model's parameters, the building can be simulated using the TAS Building Simulator. Simulations can be performed for a complete calendar year or only for selected periods of interest. The results of the simulation are shown in the TAS Results Viewer (.tsd). Results are shown for each individual zone.

Finally, for the simulation of the HVAC systems, the results of the TAS Building Simulator are imported into the TAS Systems application (.tpd). TAS Systems is used for obtaining yearly, monthly, daily, and hourly results for consumption, demand, costs, and C0₂ emissions. In TAS Systems, the user should define the type of HVAC systems and their parameters. If it is required, different HVAC systems can be applied to different zones or group of zones. Also, if the building uses renewable energy sources (photovoltaic panels, wind turbine), the generated electricity from these sources can also be calculated.

3.3.2 XP SWMM

Simulations of the flood events presented in this thesis were performed using XP SWMM version 15.0, a software package developed by XP Solutions. XP SWMM is a comprehensive software package for planning, modeling, and managing sustainable drainage systems. It is used to simulate natural rainfall-runoff processes and the performance of engineered systems (XP Solutions, 2016).

The first step of the modeling process in XP SWMM is the importing of the image of the examined area and the Digital Terrain Model (DTM). The image of the area is used to model the various land uses and apply the relevant parameters. The DTM is a topographic model of the area and contains spatial elevation data.

In the following, the user should identify the catchments of the examined area and their draining points. Additional parameters that include the rainfall, infiltration, land uses, drainage, and soil type should also be modelled.

Modeling of buildings in XP SWMM can be done with two methods. The area of a building is modeled either as inactive or as a fill area. When modeling a building as an inactive area, a boundary is created in the perimeter of the building and water is not allowed to enter the building. However, as this assumption is not valid when the water levels exceed the level of the sill or the level of the windows, this method can result in overestimation of the water depth around the building. Modeling of buildings as fill areas allows the user to set a constant elevation that represents the level of the sill or the windows. When the water depth exceeds the set elevation, it will enter the building. This is a more realistic approach, and it allows for the identification of the risk of individual buildings for flooding.

XP SWMM can operate in three different modes. The three modes are runoff, sanitary, and hydraulics mode. Each mode has a different function and produces different types of results. In the Runoff mode, the program simulates the rainfall, infiltration, evaporation and other hydrologic processes for the defined catchments and calculates the runoff to a collection point. In the Hydraulics mode, the program simulates the storage and transport of water through drainage or foul sewer network. Sanitary mode is used to calculate storage and treatment processes.

3.4 Examined buildings

3.4.1 Office building

The Paragon building is located in West London, at the Brentford site of the University of West London. The School of Psychology, Social Care and Human Sciences and College of Nursing, Midwifery, and Healthcare are based at the Brentford site. The areas of the building are being used as classrooms, lecture theatres, offices, laboratories and IT rooms. The building also houses the university's library and a canteen. It remains operational during the whole year and the summer period is also used for the university's summer school classes. The total area of the building is 11167 m², it has 11 floors, and a mezzanine level and the total height is 45.57 m. The most substantial proportion of the building's facade is covered by a curtain wall facade. The rest of the facade is a solid wall.



Figure 7 View of the Paragon building (Source uwl.ac.uk)

Heating is provided in the building by a packaged boiler system that comprises three gasfired boilers. Two gas valves are fitted to provide control of the fuel to the boilers. Cooling is provided by a chilled water system that comprises three air-cooled chillers. Chilled water is circulated by three pumps which are designed to allow a flexible operation in response to demand. Also, differential pressure switches are located across the pump section that provides a feedback signal indicating the water flow status in the flow pipework. There are three air handling units (AHU) located on the third floor and one located on the roof that supplies fresh air to the building via fan coil units. The AHU that is located on the roof serves all floors while from the three AHU that are located on the third floor, one serves the two lecture theatres, one serves the floors from the ground to the third, and one serves the floors from the fifth to the ninth.

The U-Values of the building elements that were used are shown in Table 4.



Figure 8 View of the model of the building

Construction	U-Value (W/m ² °C)
External wall	0.35
Internal wall	0.241
Roof	2.768
Windows	1.424



Figure 9 Plan of the first floor of the Paragon building

3.4.2 School building

The examined building is a one story new build school building with a total area of 1343 m^2 . The architectural plan of the building is shown in Figure 10. The internal space of the building consists of classrooms, interview rooms, offices, WC, kitchen, plant room, and circulation areas. It has seven similarly sized classrooms with an average area of 65.25 m^2 . Three classrooms are south facing, and four are north facing. External shading is provided for the south-facing classrooms by polycarbonate roof panels. On the top of the roof, a photovoltaic solar system is installed. All classrooms have the same window formation, as

shown in Figure 13. The upper windows have an area of 0.55 m^{2} , and the middle windows have an area of 1.43 m². The bottom part of the formation consists of aluminum panes.



Figure 10 Architectural plan of the school building



Figure 11 View of the 2D model of the school building



Figure 12 3D Model of the building

Table 5 shows the modeling and simulation parameters of the building fabric used in this study. Figures 11 and 12 show the plan and the 3D model of the building as they were created in EDSL TAS.

Construction	U-Value (W/ m ² °C)
External wall	0.25
Partition wall	0.728
Roof	0.164
Windows	1.538
Ground floor	0.21

Table 5 Building fabric U-values (School building)



Figure 13 Window formation of classrooms

3.4.3 Residential building

The examined residential building is a two-floor house with a total area of 333 m^2 . On the ground floor, the building's zones consist of a living room, a dining room, hall area, a kitchen with a utility room, two storage areas, a WC and the garage. On the first floor, the building has four bedrooms and a bathroom. The building is naturally ventilated. The U-values of the building materials can be seen in Table 6 below.



Figure 14 3D view of the building model (Front)



Figure 15 3D view of the building model (Rear)

Construction	U-Value
External wall	$0.24 \text{ W/m}^2\text{K}$
Partition wall	$0.728 \text{ W/m}^2\text{K}$
Roof	0.13 W/m ² K
Windows	$2.30 \text{ W/m}^2\text{K}$

Table 6 Building fabric U-values (Residential building)







Figure 17Residential building - first floor

Chapter 4: Effect of Window-to-Wall Ratio on Thermal Comfort and Energy Consumption

The effect of the window-to-wall ratio on thermal comfort conditions and energy consumption was examined for the office building described in section 3.4.2.

4.1 Introduction

The Climate Change Act, which was passed in 2008, commits the UK to reduce emissions by 80% in 2050 from 1990 levels (Climate Change Act, 2008). Considering that buildings account for 37% of all UK greenhouse emissions (European Commission, 2015), it is important to find solutions to reduce the emissions of the buildings in order to achieve this target. Emissions from buildings comprise 45% direct emissions due to burning fossil fuels for heat and 55% indirect emissions related to electricity use (Committee on Climate Change, 2013). Therefore, the applied solutions should aim to reduce both the heating demand, which is usually served by a gas or oil-fired boiler and the cooling demand, which is usually served by a peliances using electricity.

Commercial buildings with fully glazed facades are popular in the UK. They allow the light to penetrate into the interiors of the building and provide an unrestricted view of the outside to the occupants. Moreover, they contribute to the aesthetics of the building. However, the amount of solar gains resulting from a glazed facade can overheat the building, increase the cooling demand, and gas emissions. In addition to consuming considerable amounts of energy, the large amount of solar radiation passing through the glass facade often causes occupants to experience thermal discomfort (Hwang and Shu, 2011)

The window-to-wall area ratio (WWR) has an important effect on building energy consumption for heating and air conditioning (Su and Zhang, 2010). This study aims to quantify the effect of the window-to-wall ratio on the cooling and lighting loads of an institutional building during the non-heating period (May to September) and investigate its effect on thermal comfort.

4.2 Predicted Mean Vote (PMV)

Buildings that are cooled or heated mechanically can also overheat if the ventilation system is, for example, undersized or poorly controlled. Here BS EN 15251 (BSI, 2007) defines the acceptable indoor conditions according to the PMV index, and overheating is, therefore, a function not only of temperature but also of the humidity, air speed and the clothing and activity of the occupants. The extent of overheating will also be judged according to the PPD.

The predicted mean vote is arguably the most influential and widely used thermal comfort model (Kim, et al., 2015). It is an index that predicts the mean value of the votes of a large group of persons on the 7-point thermal sensation scale (Table 7).

+3	Hot
+2	Warm
+1	Slightly warm
0	Neutral
-1	Slightly cool
-2	Cool
-3	Cold

Table 7: Seven Point thermal sensation scale (ISO, 2005)

PMV may be calculated for different combinations of metabolic rate, clothing insulation, air temperature, mean radiant temperature, air velocity, and air humidity (ISO, 2005).

From the PMV value, the predicted percentage dissatisfied (PPD) can be determined. PPD is an index that establishes the number of people that feel a dissatisfaction from the thermal conditions. It can be calculated by the following equation:

 $PPD = 100 - 95 \times \exp(-0.03353 \times PMV^4 - 0.2179 \times PMV^2)$

(ISO, 2005)

4.3 Modelling of the building

This study examined eight different window-to-wall ratios, from 20% to 90%. For each of the examined cases, the width of the windows of the building was alternated by 10%. The resulting effect on the facade of the building can be observed in Figures 16-23.



Figure 18 20% Window-to-wall ratio



Figure 20 40% Window-to-wall ratio



Figure 19 30% Window-to-wall ratio



Figure 21 50% Window-to-wall ratio



Figure 22 60% Window-to-wall ratio



Figure 23 70% Window-to-wall ratio



Figure 24 80% Window-to-wall ratio



Figure 25 90% Window-to-wall ratio

In order to examine the effect of the window-to-wall ratio on the lighting loads, a function that controls the lighting of the zones of the building was modelled. This function models a photocell approach of the lighting based on the occupancy of the building. Furthermore, target illuminance levels were defined for each zone. The target illuminance levels were adopted by the recommended comfort criteria presented in CIBSE Guide A (CIBSE, 2015a). The target illuminance levels that were modelled for this study can be seen in Table 8. With the application of the target illuminance levels, artificial lighting will be provided in the room only when the natural lighting entering the building is not enough to cover the modeled levels of target illuminance.

Simulations of the building were performed using the DSY-2 weather data for the simulation of the current weather conditions and the DSY-2 High 90% weather data for the simulation of the projected weather conditions of the 2050s.

Room type	Illuminance (lux)
Office	400
Classroom	300
Lecture hall	500
Corridor	100
Laboratory	100
Kitchen	500

Table 8 Modelled illuminance levels

4.4 Effect of window-to-wall ratio on cooling and lighting loads

The graphs presented below show the total resulting in cooling loads and lighting loads for the examined cases during the non-heating period. Also, in Tables 9-12, a monthly breakdown of the loads is presented.

For both examined weather scenarios, the least amount of cooling loads is obtained with a 30% window-to-wall ratio. This is explained by the fact that when the building is modelled with a 20% window-to-wall ratio, it requires significantly more lighting in order to achieve the target illuminance. The additional heat generated by the lighting fixtures resulted in additional cooling in order to achieve the temperature set point.

The total of the cooling and lighting loads receives its lowest value when the building is modeled with a 50% window-to-wall ratio under the current weather conditions and with a 40% window-to-wall ratio under the projected weather conditions. However, in both cases, the difference between these two cases is 0.5 kWh/m^2 .



Figure 26 Cooling and lighting loads for the examined WWR in kWh/m²



Figure 27 Cooling and lighting loads for the examined WWR in kWh/m^2

Cooling loads (kWh/m ²)							
%	May	June	July	August	September	Total	
20	3.4	10	10.5	13.1	6.8	43.8	
30	3.2	9.5	10.3	13	6.5	42.5	
40	3.2	9.7	10.5	13.3	6.5	43.2	
50	3.3	10.2	11.1	13.9	6.6	45.1	
60	3.5	10.8	11.7	14.6	6.9	47.5	
70	3.7	11.4	12.3	15.3	7.2	49.9	
80	4.1	12.5	12.8	16.4	7.8	53.6	
90	4.3	13	13.8	17	8.1	56.2	

Table 9 Monthly cooling loads for the examined WWR - Current weather conditions

Table 10 Monthly lighting loads for the examined WWR - current weather conditions

Lighting (kWh/m ²)						
%	May	June	July	August	September	Total
20	8.1	6.7	6.4	7	8.1	36.3
30	5.9	4	4.8	5.3	6.3	26.3
40	5	3.9	4	4.5	5.2	22.6
50	4.4	3.5	3.7	4	4.7	20.3
60	4.1	3.2	3.4	3.7	4.4	18.8
70	3.9	3	3.2	3.6	4.2	17.9
80	3.8	3	3.2	3.5	4.1	17.6
90	3.8	3	3.2	3.5	4.1	17.6

Cooling (kWh/m ²)							
%	May	June	July	August	September	Total	
20	9	16.2	18.3	19.8	13.1	76.4	
30	8.3	15.7	18.2	19.8	12.6	74.6	
40	8.4	16.1	18.6	20.2	12.6	75.9	
50	8.6	16.9	19.4	21	12.9	78.8	
60	9.1	17.7	20.4	21.8	13.5	82.5	
70	9.5	18.6	21.4	22.7	14	86.2	
80	10.1	19.4	22.5	23.9	14.9	90.8	
90	10.7	20.8	23.7	25	15.7	95.9	

Table 11 Monthly cooling loads of the examined WWR - Projected weather conditions (the 2050s)

Table 12 Monthly lighting loads for the examined WWR - Projected weather conditions (the 2050s)

Lighting (kWh/m2)						
%	May	June	July	August	September	Total
20	8.1	6.7	6.6	7.1	8.3	36.8
30	5.9	4.8	5	5.4	6.4	27.5
40	5	4	4.1	4.5	5.3	22.9
50	4.4	3.6	3.7	4.1	4.7	20.5
60	4.1	3.3	3.5	3.8	4.4	19.1
70	3.9	3	3.3	3.6	4.2	18
80	3.8	3	3.2	3.6	4.1	17.7
90	3.8	3	3.2	3.6	4.1	17.7

4.5 Effect of window-to-wall ratio on thermal comfort

For the calculation of the PMV/PPD values, the simulated values of the air temperature, mean radiant temperature and relative humidity have been used. The air speed was set to 0.1 m/s. When considering the calculations for the thermal comfort of the office room, the occupants' metabolic rate was set to 1.2 met and the clothing to 0.7. The building is

considered to be in Class II, so the acceptable limit for the PMV is ± 0.5 (PPD $\leq 10\%$) (BS EN 15251, 2007).

The graphs presented below show the PPD calculations for room 1004, for the examined window-to-wall ratios during the day of the year with the highest temperature for the current and the projected weather conditions. The horizontal axis shows the working hours and the vertical axis of the PPD.



Figure 28 PPD under current weather conditions



Figure 29PPD under the projected weather conditions

As can be observed from Figure 26, under the current weather condition, the smallest percentage of dissatisfied people results when the window-to-wall ratio is at 20% or 30%. From the other examined cases, only when the building is modelled with a 40% window-to-wall ratio, the PPD of the room stays close to 10%, which represents the acceptable thermal comfort conditions. For the cases from 50% to 90% it can be seen that they achieve good thermal comfort conditions at the beginning and the end of the day, but they result in high PPD in the middle of the day.

Figure 27 shows the PPD calculations under the projected weather conditions of the 2050s. It can be seen that the most comfortable conditions resulted in a 20% window-to-wall ratio. Only when the building is modelled with a 30% window-to-wall ratio does room remain within thermal comfort conditions for the whole duration of the day. Furthermore, it can be seen that the thermal comfort conditions of the room have worsened in all of the examined scenarios.

4.6 Conclusions

This study examined the effect of the window-to-wall ratio of an educational building, on the cooling and lighting loads and the thermal comfort under the current and the projected weather conditions of the 2050s.

Results of the simulations of the examined cases show that the least amount of cooling loads is achieved when the building is modelled with a 30% window-to-wall ratio and the least amount of lighting loads is achieved when the building is modelled with 90% window-to-wall ratio. It is worth noting that the case with 80% window-to-wall ratio has identical lighting loads with the 90% and lighting loads of the 70% case were only marginally higher. The versions of the building with 40% and 50% window-to-wall ratio have the lowest combined value of cooling and lighting loads.

Furthermore, the study examined the thermal comfort conditions of a room during the day with the highest temperature. Under the current weather conditions, the room achieves the best comfort conditions when the building is modelled with a 20% or 30% window-to-wall ratio. Under the projected weather conditions, the room achieves the best thermal comfort conditions when the building is modelled with a 20% window-to-wall ratio. However, even

with a 30% window-to-wall ratio, the room remains within acceptable comfort conditions for the whole of the working day. All the other examined cases result in unacceptable comfort conditions.

Chapter 5: Effect of Relative Humidity on Thermal Comfort

The effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort conditions was investigated for the office building described in section 3.4.2.

The schedule of the building was set to weekdays and weekends. Based on the usage of the building, the occupancy profile was set from 08:00 to 20:00, and the cooling setpoint during the occupied hours was set to 21°C. The windows of the building were modelled with a blind that covered 50% of their glazing area.

5.1 Introduction

The climate is changing, and buildings are already performing poorly in several ways, the most obvious of these is the summer overheating of buildings with large areas of glazing, lightweight construction, or which are well insulated without enough ventilation. Those buildings that are performing well now and those who are currently being designed and built for the current climate may become intolerable for occupants by 2080 without the use of active cooling and associated high energy usage (CIBSE, 2014d).

UK Climate Projections examine three different greenhouse gas emissions scenarios and show how future climate could change if we fail to reduce our emissions. The high emissions scenario could result in an average summer temperature rise of 5°C in the south west of England by the 2080s (Defra, 2009). This will significantly affect the thermal and energy performance of our buildings.

Achieving thermal comfort conditions is vital in order to ensure the well-being and productivity levels of the occupants. Furthermore, when considering educational buildings, thermal comfort has also been related to student performance (Zomorodian, Tahsildoost, & Hafezi, 2016).

Educational buildings are responsible for a significant amount of the UK's non-industrial energy consumption, and a considerable amount of this energy is used to provide thermal comfort (Barbhuiya and Barbhuiya, 2013). This study focuses on the non-heating period (May to September) and examines the differences in cooling loads and thermal comfort in

a higher education building under current weather conditions and future projected weather conditions of the 2050s.

5.2 Effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort

For the most common thermal comfort, human application, relative humidity levels can vary between 30%-70%.

The effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort is not considered to be significant when the indoor temperature is within the recommended range. It is generally accepted that within the 'comfort' range (20-26°C) humidity has a second order of importance, as the operative temperature rises towards the body temperature evaporation and respiration becomes an essential mechanism for heat loss from the body (CIBSE, 2015a).

Relative humidity affects thermal comfort more significantly at higher temperatures. It is recognised that at higher temperatures - particularly in high relative humidity, which limits the body's ability to keep cool through perspiration - heat stress can occur while the body cannot maintain its core temperature of 37 °C (CIBSE, 2014). High levels of relative humidity can work against the evaporative cooling effects of sweating and leave the body prone to overheating (Boduch and Fincher, 2009). The combination of high temperature and high humidity introduces a feeling of sultriness or oppression, which occurs above 70% relative humidity at 21°C and above 60% relative humidity at 23°C (DIN, 1994). A maximum room relative humidity of 60% within the recommended range of summer design operative temperatures would provide acceptable comfort conditions for human occupancy and minimize the risk of mould growth (CIBSE, 2015a).
5.3 Estimation of thermal comfort conditions



Figure 30 Mean radiant temperature range at the time of the highest external temperature

In order to

examine the thermal comfort, a room located on the east side of the building was selected. Room 1004 is used as an office. According to the simulated results that room was found to have the highest mean radiant temperatures in the day and at the time of the highest external temperature. The calculation of the PMV/PPD values was performed similarly to the method described in section 4.2.



Figure 31 Zoning of the 10th floor and location of room 1004

All PMV/PPD calculations presented below are only for the occupied hours of the building for the period from May to September. In total, the occupied hours of the examined period were 1378.

5.3.1 Room 1004 (Office)

5.3.1.1 Baseline calculations

Graph 1 shows the PMV values of the examined room during the week with the highest external temperature. The examined week is formed of 5 working days, with each of those days having 13 working hours. Consequently, the points (13, 0), (26, 0), (39, 0), (52, 0) and (65, 0) of the graph represent the end of the working day. It can be observed that PMV receives values close to zero at the beginning and the end of the working day. As the temperature rises, thermal comfort decreases and in the middle of the working day when the temperature is at its highest PMV point receives the highest value, which results in the highest percentage of dissatisfied people. The peak point for the examined week occurs either at 14:00 or at 15:00. As the day progresses and external temperature decreases, PMV values decrease until they reach their lowest point at the end of the working day at 20:00.



Graph 1 PMV values during the hottest week of the year

Graphs 2 and 3 below show the hourly results for the predicted mean vote and the percentage of dissatisfied people for the baseline calculations. There are 318 hours with a PPD of over 10%. This equals to 23% of the occupied time. It can be observed that the highest concentration of hours above the 10% limit are at the two ends of the graph, which

represent May and September. Furthermore, it can be seen from Graph 3 that during the beginning and the end of the non-heating period the PMV receives negative values up to - 0.9, which means that people feel slightly cool while during the summer months the PMV values are positive with a maximum value of +1.005, which means that people feel slightly warm in the room. The negative values that appear during the summer months represent the beginning and the end of the working day, where under the examined internal conditions, people feel slightly cold.



Graph 2 Hourly PMV during occupied hours – Baseline



Graph 3 Hourly PPD values - Baseline

5.3.1.2 Future weather calculations

Graphs 4 and 5 below show the PMV and PPD values under the examined future weather conditions. Graph 7 shows the PMV value for the examined room during the hottest week of the year and presents a comparison with the 2003 DSY. As can be observed, the results show a similar pattern with the baseline calculations; however, the negative PMV values at the beginning and the end of the non-heating period have dropped (lowest value at -0.78) and the positive PMV values during the summer months have increased (highest value at 1.17).



Graph 4 Hourly PMV values - Future weather



Graph 5 Hourly PPD values - Future weather

Comparing the PPD results of the two examined weather datasets, it can be seen that although the room has the same internal conditions as in the baseline calculations, the thermal comfort of the occupants under the future weather conditions will worsen during the summer months but will be slightly improved during May and September. In the baseline scenario, it was estimated that the occupants feel slightly cold during May and September and slightly warm during the summer months. The increased external temperature of the future weather conditions leads to an increase of the mean radiant temperature and as a result of the operative temperature of the room. In terms of thermal comfort, this increase in the temperature is beneficial forMay and September but has a negative effect during the summer months. Out of the 1378 occupied hours, 333 are above the 10% PPD threshold.

Graph 6 below shows the PMV values of the two examined weather scenarios during the hottest week of the year. It can be seen that the thermal comfort of the occupants will be worst during all hours of the working day except for the last one of the working day (20:00).



Graph 6 Comparison of PMV values during the hottest week of the year

5.4 Effect of relative humidity

As discussed above, the factors that affect the PMV are the internal temperature, mean radiant temperature, relative humidity, air velocity, metabolic rate, and clothing. Air velocity, metabolic rate, and clothing were considered to be unchanged during the examined period and were the same for both of the examined scenarios. The internal temperature was set to 21°C, and the mean radiant temperature used for the calculations of the PMV was calculated by the software package.

In the simulations, in the results which have been presented so far, there was no control set to the values of relative humidity. Graph 7 shows the simulated relative humidity of the room for the two examined scenarios. It can be observed that in both cases, the relative humidity receives values outside of the 30%-70% accepted range. In order to examine the effect of relative humidity to thermal comfort, a set point of 40% was defined, and a simulation of the thermal performance of the building using the future weather conditions was performed. Graphs 8 and 9 show the PMV and PPD values under the examined future weather conditions when the relative humidity control is applied.



Graph 7 Comparison of the simulates relative humidity between Baseline and future weather



Graph 8 PMV values - Future weather - Relative humidity 40%



Graph 9 PPD values - Future weather - Relative humidity 40%



Graph 10 Difference of PPD with and without relative humidity control (Future weather)

Graph 10 above shows the difference of the percentage of dissatisfied people between the scenarios with no humidity control and with humidity control at 40%. Simulations in both scenarios were performed using the future weather data. Positive values mean that the PPD value for this specific hour is higher in the scenario with no humidity control. Out of the examined 1378 hours, 739 have a better thermal comfort conditions when the relative humidity control is applied, and 639 hours have better thermal comfort conditions when no relative humidity control is applied. Looking further into the results, when the relative humidity control has a positive effect on the thermal comfort, it reduces the PPD by 1.35 on average and presents a maximum hourly decrease of 9.1.

On the other hand, when relative humidity has a negative effect, it increases the PPD by 0.97 on average and presents a maximum hourly increase of at the hour where it has the most negative effect it increases the PPD by 4.37. Also, it is worth noting that during the period of the warm spell, the relative humidity control has its most positive contribution to the thermal comfort. In total, under the examined scenario, 312 hours are above the 10% PPD threshold.

Graph 11 below shows the comparison of the PMV values for the hottest week of the year. As can be observed, when relative humidity is set to 40%, thermal comfort conditions improve to 2003 levels or better during most of the working hours. However, during the hours in the end and the beginning of the day, the 2050s scenario with no relative humidity control will have the best thermal comfort conditions between the three examined scenarios.



Graph 11 Comparison of PMV values during the hottest week of the year - 3 scenarios



Graph 12 Comparison of PPD values during the hottest week of the year - 3 scenarios

5.5 Conclusions

This study aimed to investigate the effect of relative humidity on the thermal comfort of a fully glazed office building in West London under the 2003 weather conditions and the projected weather conditions of the 2050s. The examined period is from May to September.

Study of the thermal comfort shows different results for May and September, where the occupants feel slightly cool in the examined space, and for the summer months, where the occupants feel slightly warm. Results of the thermal comfort under the projected weather conditions show the same pattern as in the baseline; however, thermal comfort is slightly improved during May and September and marginally worsens during the summer months.

Investigation of the effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort has shown that when the relative humidity is set to 40%, 53% of the total occupied hours had a smaller percentage of dissatisfied people. However, if we examine only the summer months, thermal comfort is improved in 68% of the total occupied hours. Effect of the relative humidity control on the PPD can also be seen in Graph 12, where the comparison between the three scenarios is presented.

Chapter 6: Ventilation Techniques to Reduce the Risk of Overheating of a School Building

In the UK, schools house about 10 million pupils who spend about 70% of their time inside a classroom during school days (Bakó-Biró et al., 2012). Thermal comfort conditions significantly affect the health and performance of teachers and students in classrooms. Uncomfortable conditions will not enable teachers to work at their best and children to learn as well as they could (CIBSE, 2015b). Overheating of schools is already a problem in many parts of the country (Ben Smith, 2015).

Schools represent a challenge to building designers, especially in terms of thermal comfort during the summer months due to overheating. Classrooms are densely occupied spaces with high levels of occupancy and increasingly contain large amounts of IT equipment (Firth and Cook, 2010). Apart from the high heat gains due to operating at full or nearly full capacity most of the time with high internal heat gains from equipment, an additional challenge is presented by the intermittent occupancy as pupils move between spaces (CIBSE, 2015b). In addition to that, schools are particularly vulnerable to increased temperatures due to the young age of occupants, and limited opportunities for behavioral adjustments to improve thermal comfort in classrooms (Teli et al., 2017). A further challenge is presented by recent research, which has shown that comfort temperature levels are lower for children than adults (Teli et al., 2017). Thermal comfort field surveys during spring and summer in naturally ventilated classrooms in the UK found this comfort temperature difference to be around $2^{\circ}C$ (Teli, Jentsch and James, 2012).

The recorded increase in the global average temperature over the past century has raised concerns about the likelihood of overheating in buildings without mechanical ventilation. In addition to that, heat waves have become more frequent and intense (Teli et al., 2017). Considering the rise of temperature and the increase in the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events shown in the UK Climate Projections (UKCP09) (Defra, 2009b), overheating problems are likely to become more severe in the future.

This chapter discusses the risk of overheating under extreme hot weather conditions of new build naturally ventilated school buildings under the BB101 criteria in 14 different locations in the United Kingdom.

6.1 UK Climate Projections

The UK Climate Projections are the key source of climate change information on which research organizations, regulation, and policy-making bodies, and the insurance industry are basing their responses to changes in our climate.

The Projections provide data for three different (high, medium, low) future scenarios of greenhouse gases. These emission scenarios are based on different pathways showing how a range of factors, such as population, economic growth and energy usage, might change over time. For the next two to three decades, there is little difference between the scenarios in terms of how they will impact global temperatures. After this point the impact of different emissions levels becomes significant, leading to a very wide difference between low and high greenhouse gas emission scenarios by the 2080s (Defra, 2009a).

The UKCP09 show that all locations in the UK will get warmer in the future, more so in the summer than in the winter. In addition to that, extreme weather events will appear with a higher frequency and intensity (Defra, 2009a). Gething, in his report "Design for Future Climate", presents a series of maps that have been assembled from UKCP09 data to give overviews of the likely range of change across the country and across all three emissions scenarios for a number of the most relevant climate variables (Gething, 2010). Figure 30 below shows the projected summer mean temperature change (°C) relative to 1the 961-1990 baseline for the three emissions scenarios.



Figure 32 Projected summer mean temperature change (°*C*) *relative to the 1961-1990 baseline* (*Gething, 2010*)

6.2 Overheating

The thermal conditions inside a building are determined by the interactions between the external climate and the building, the building shell and the internal space and the internal space and the occupants (Teli, Jentsch and Bahaj, 2011). Overheating implies that building

occupants feel uncomfortably hot and that this discomfort is caused by the indoor environment (CIBSE, 2013). Thermal discomfort is a sign that the mechanisms that we have in place to remain comfortable are inadequate. So, if a student finds it hard to concentrate during an exam at school because the room is too hot for that particular task, the school building, its services or the building management, have individually or collectively failed in an important task (CIBSE, 2013).

BB101 defines the regulation standards and provides design guidance for ventilation in school buildings. In BB101, the performance standards for summertime overheating in compliance with the Approved document L2 for teaching and learning areas are: The average internal to external temperature difference should not exceed 5°C (i.e., the internal air temperature should be no more than 5°C above the external air temperature on average).

The internal air temperature when space is occupied should not exceed 32°C. There should be no more than 120 hours when the air temperature in the classroom rises above 28°C.

In order to show that the proposed school will not suffer overheating, two of these three criteria must be met (BB101, 2006). An overheating analysis was performed for the occupied hours of the building for the period from May to September.

6.3. Methodology

For the purpose of this study, thermal and energy simulations of a school building were performed to identify locations in the UK where naturally ventilated school buildings, with similar construction, were likely to comply with the BB101 overheating criteria. The examined locations were Belfast, Birmingham, Cardiff, Edinburgh, Glasgow, Leeds, London, Manchester, Newcastle, Norwich, Nottingham, Plymouth, Southampton, and Swindon. Modeling and simulation of the building were performed with the aid of the EDSL TAS software package. Amoako-Attah and Jahromi have provided a detailed description of the modeling process (Amoako-Attah and B-Jahromi, 2015). The DSY weather files by CIBSE were used. As this study aims to study the risk of overheating under extreme hot weather conditions, the DSY-2 weather files, which represent the most intensive warm spell, were selected. The performance of the building under the projected weather conditions of the 2050s was examined using the high emission scenario (90% percentile change). When examining the performance of the building for London, the London Weather Centre weather file was used.

Initially, the building was modeled as naturally ventilated, and the risk of overheating was investigated for all the examined locations. In the following for the locations where the building failed to comply with the overheating criteria, the building was simulated in mixed mode and as mechanically ventilated, and the amount of cooling loads required to achieve thermal comfort conditions was quantified. Finally, the performance of the building was examined under the projected weather conditions of the 2050s.

6.4 Examined building

The examined building is a one-floor new build school building with a total area of 1343 m^2 . The internal space of the building consists of classrooms, interview rooms, offices, WC, kitchen, plant room, and circulation areas. It has seven similarly sized classrooms with an average area of 65.25 m^2 . Three classrooms are south facing, and four are north facing. External shading is provided to the south-facing classrooms by polycarbonate roof panels. On the top of the roof, a photovoltaic solar system is installed. All classrooms have the same window formation, as shown in Figure 33. The upper windows have an area of 0.55 m^2 , and the middle windows have an area of 1.43 m^2 . The bottom part of the formation consists of aluminum panels. Table 13 shows the modeling and simulation parameters of the building fabric used in this study. Figures 31 and 32 show the plan and the 3D model of the building as they were created in EDSL TAS.

Construction	U-Value
	(W/m2K)
External wall	0.25
Partition wall	0.728

Roof	0.164
Windows	1.538
Ground floor	0.21



Figure 33 2D model of the building created in EDSL TAS



Figure 34 3D model of the building created in EDSL TAS



Figure 35 Window formation of classrooms

6.5 Ventilation modes

Different functions were set to control the ventilation of the building in the examined scenarios. In the mixed mode and mechanical ventilation scenario, mechanical cooling is provided to ensure that the zone's temperature will not go above 28 °C.

For the modeling of natural ventilation, a function was defined to control the opening of the window based on the temperature of the adjacent zone. The aperture was set to begin to open if the dry-bulb temperature in the adjacent zone exceeded 21 °C and it would be fully opened if the dry-bulb temperature reached 23 °C. The openable proportion of the window was set at 30%. This function was applied both to the upper and middle window of the window formation of the classrooms, as shown in Figure 33.

Similarly, to the natural ventilation mode, the function that controls the mixed mode ventilation is controlled by the adjacent zone dry bulb temperature. Opening of the aperture functions as in the natural ventilation mode; however, in this scenario the aperture would begin to close if the temperature in the adjacent zone reached 25 °C to allow mechanical ventilation to be used. Furthermore, if the external temperature exceeded the internal temperature, the aperture would begin to close.

In the mechanical ventilation mode, a minimum ventilation rate was set at 2.0 l/s/m^2 . This ventilation rate was selected to cover the minimum daily average rate of 5 l/s per person (BB101 2006). Furthermore, additional ventilation could be provided if it was required. The additional ventilation is controlled by the zone's dry bulb temperature. It starts when the temperature in the zone reaches 21 °C and increases proportionally until the temperature reaches 25 °C. At this point, the additional ventilation rate plus the minimum value is applied to the zone. The additional ventilation starts to reduce when the inside and outside temperatures are equal and is completely off when the outside temperature is one full degree above the inside. The additional ventilation rate was set at 1.2 l/s/m^2 to ensure the capability of the mechanical ventilation system to provide 8 l/s per person at any occupied time (BB101 2006).

6.6 Results

Results for both the current weather conditions and the projected weather conditions of the 2050s are shown for classroom R24, which is south facing and has a total area of 66.3 m^2 . The exact location of classroom R24 in the building plan can be seen in Figure 31. For the scenario where the building is considered to be naturally ventilated each location was examined against the three criteria defined in BB101. Whenever the results of the simulation fail to fulfill one of the criteria, this is presented with the letter (F) next to the value.

When the building is considered to be in mixed mode or mechanically ventilated, mechanical cooling is also provided to keep the temperature at a maximum 28 °C during occupied hours. As a result, in these two scenarios, the building does not overheat for any of the examined locations and weather conditions. For these two scenarios, the required amount of cooling loads to achieve comfort conditions is presented.

6.6.1 Natural ventilation

Location	Criterion 1 (°C)	Criterion 2 (°C)	Criterion 3 (hours)
Belfast	7.21 (F)	36.14 (F)	41.5
Birmingham	6.3 (F)	39.7 (F)	139 (F)
Cardiff	6.5 (F)	36.48 (F)	82
Edinburgh	7.21(F)	30.68	23.5
Glasgow	7.41(F)	31.46	17.5
Leeds	6.61 (F)	35.41 (F)	64
London	6.05 (F)	36.9 (F)	195 (F)
Manchester	7.08 (F)	34.21 (F)	68.5
Newcastle	7.27 (F)	33.13 (F)	32
Norwich	6.11 (F)	35.53 (F)	75
Nottingham	6.67 (F)	35.60 (F)	69
Plymouth	6.50 (F)	33.38 (F)	59.5
Southampton	6.11 (F)	33.20 (F)	104

Table 14 Compliance with BB101 overheating criteria for current weather conditions

Swindon 6.11(F) 35.38 (F)	103
---------------------------	-----

As can be observed from Table 14, only Edinburgh and Glasgow fulfill the BB101 criteria under the current weather conditions. In the other twelve examined locations, the classroom overheats. Furthermore, it is worth noting that London and Birmingham are the only two areas in which the air temperature in the classroom rises for more than 120 hours above 28 °C and they also have two of the highest maximum internal air temperatures. Southampton, Plymouth, and Newcastle are all less than 1.5°C above the maximum allowed internal air temperature.

Location	Criterion 1 (°C)	Criterion 2 (°C)	Criterion 3 (hours)
Belfast	6.53 (F)	37.60 (F)	74
Birmingham	5.77 (F)	41.54 (F)	208.0 (F)
Cardiff	5.98 (F)	38.43 (F)	159.0 (F)
Edinburgh	6.38 (F)	32.61 (F)	48.5
Glasgow	6.62 (F)	32.91 (F)	48.5
Leeds	6.03 (F)	37.06 (F)	104.5
London	5.64 (F)	41.89 (F)	488 (F)
Manchester	6.41 (F)	35.99 (F)	105
Newcastle	6.57 (F)	34.60 (F)	66
Norwich	5.62 (F)	37.33 (F)	131 (F)
Nottingham	6.03 (F)	37.41 (F)	110.5
Plymouth	5.86 (F)	35.40 (F)	97
Southampton	5.67 (F)	35.38 (F)	196.5 (F)
Swindon	5.68 (F)	37.30 (F)	206.5 (F)

Table 15 Compliance with BB101 overheating criteria future weather conditions

Results of the simulations for the projected weather conditions of the 2050s show that all the examined locations fail the BB101 criteria for overheating. In London, the examined classroom is above 28 °C for 488 hours and in Birmingham for 208. Except for London and Birmingham, Cardiff, Norwich, Southampton, and Swindon also show more than 120 hours above 28 °C. Glasgow and Edinburgh are both less than 1 °C above the maximum allowed internal air temperature.

6.6.2 Mixed mode and mechanical ventilation

Table 16 below shows for both the mixed mode and mechanical ventilation scenario and for all the locations, the required cooling loads to keep the internal temperature of the examined zone below 28 °C under the current weather conditions. These cooling loads are the total loads required for the examined period. It can be observed that for all locations, mixed mode requires less energy compared to mechanical ventilation. The highest amount of cooling loads is required in London and equals to 526.1 kWh for the mixed mode scenario and 598.8 kWh for the mechanical ventilation scenario. The least amount of cooling loads is required in Edinburgh, Glasgow, and Newcastle. The difference between the cooling loads between the two examined scenarios is small. The highest difference is 99.5 kWh and is shown in Belfast.

Mixed Mode (kWh)	Mechanical Ventilation (kWh)
131	230.5
389.1	438.5
202.5	268.3
49.4	72.1
42.6	69.3
153.5	178.6
526.1	598.8
144.8	168.7
63.3	76.1
176.4	214.4
155	180.2
131.1	161.3
212.8	278.2
261.2	331.7
	Mixed Mode (kWh) 131 389.1 202.5 49.4 42.6 153.5 526.1 144.8 63.3 176.4 155 131.1 212.8 261.2

Table 16 Required amount of cooling loads (kWh) for current weather conditions

Table 17 shows the required cooling loads for the mixed mode and mechanical ventilation scenario under the projected weather conditions of the 2050s. Similarly, to the current weather condition scenario, the cooling loads required in the mixed mode scenario are less than the ones required in the mechanical ventilation scenario for all the examined locations. The highest amount of cooling loads is required in London and is 3.31 times higher compared to the current weather conditions. For Edinburgh, a comparison of the cooling loads between the two examined ventilation scenarios shows that the cooling loads are 30% more when the building is modelled with mechanical ventilation.

Location	Mixed mode (kWh)	Mechanical ventilation (kWh)
Belfast	195.7	230.5
Birmingham	578.1	719.6
Cardiff	438.1	506.4
Edinburgh	125.6	178.0
Glasgow	124.5	165.4
Leeds	273.0	319.4
London	1745.2	1799.8
Manchester	250.7	284.7
Newcastle	127.3	161.3
Norwich	354.3	418.4
Nottingham	283.8	333.3
Plymouth	259.2	315.7
Southampton	530.0	586.9
Swindon	583.4	656.1

Table 17 Required amount of cooling loads (kWh) for future weather conditions

6.7 Conclusions

This study examined the risk of overheating for a school building in 14 different locations in the UK using the CIBSE DSY weather data sets. It identified locations in the UK where naturally ventilated school buildings with similar construction are likely to achieve thermal comfort conditions even under extreme hot weather conditions. Furthermore, it examined the performance of the building in mixed mode and as mechanically ventilated, and it quantified the number of cooling loads required in order to comply with the BB101 criteria. Finally, it performed simulations of the building under projected weather conditions of the 2050s and presented a comparison between the current and the future weather conditions.

The results of the simulations show that in most parts of the UK examined in this study, schools with similar characteristics with the one investigated in this case study are likely to have problems passing the overheating standards under both the current and the projected weather conditions of the 2050s. More specifically, under the current weather conditions and when the building is modelled as naturally ventilated, only Edinburgh and Glasgow comply with the overheating criteria. For all the other areas that failed to pass the overheating criteria set in BB101, additional measures should be adopted in order to avoid the risk of overheating. Simulations of the building with the projected weather conditions show that none of the examined areas complies with the overheating criteria in the future.

In both the mixed mode and mechanical ventilation scenario, cooling at 28°, C was provided in the classroom, and thus the overheating criteria are met in both the current and the projected weather conditions, but with an energy penalty. Schools in the UK have been traditionally designed as naturally ventilated and as such currently spend no or little energy for cooling. Depending on the location of the building, the additional energy needed to cover the cooling loads required to achieve thermal comfort conditions will have a different impact on the total energy consumption of the building. School buildings in the southern regions of the UK are likely to experience more severe overheating problems than the ones in the north, and therefore the amount of energy required to comply with the overheating criteria will be higher. More specifically, in London, where the highest amount of cooling loads is needed, in order to comply with the overheating criteria under the current weather conditions and when the building is considered to have mixed mode ventilation, a total of 7.94 kWh/m² for cooling is required and when the building is modeled as mechanically ventilated the required amount of cooling loads is 9.03 kWh/m². When examining the future weather conditions, these figures rise to 26.32 kWh/m^2 and 27.15 kWh/m² respectively. According to the Good Practice Guide from Carbon Trust, the typical annual consumption of electricity for a primary school in England is 32 kWh/m². Cooling loads will need to represent over 25% under the current weather conditions and over 82% under the future weather conditions of the annual electricity consumption to comply with the overheating criteria. Comparison of the required cooling loads both for

the current and the projected weather conditions in all the examined locations shows that mixed mode requires less energy to comply with the overheating criteria.

In conclusion, this study has shown that the examined classroom, when simulated as naturally ventilated and under the current weather conditions, complies with the overheating criteria set in BB101 only in Edinburgh and in Glasgow. Classrooms of naturally ventilated school buildings in Edinburgh and Glasgow with a similar design and construction parameters with the one investigated in this case study are more likely not to have overheating problems compared to the rest of the examined locations. In addition to that, this study presented results that show a significant increase in the amount of cooling loads required to achieve thermal comfort conditions. Mixed mode ventilation should be preferred over mechanical ventilation strategy as it results in less energy consumption.

Chapter 7: Effect of Automated Natural Ventilation and Lighting Strategy on the Thermal Comfort for a Residential Building

7.1 Introduction

Recent evidence has shown that the overheating risk needs to be taken seriously in the residential sector (CIBSE, 2017). Domestic overheating has not always been a problem in the UK, but climate change, increased urbanization, construction of high rise apartment blocks and winter energy efficiency measures have all contributed to the amplification of high internal temperatures (CIBSE, 2017). Overheating in homes is recognised as a serious health problem, but it is on a smaller scale to that due to cold dwellings in winter. Although clearly dependent on the summer weather, research has shown that there may be close to 2,000 deaths every year due to heat. However climate change projections suggest the heat related deaths could rise to around 5,000 per year in the 2080s if action is not taken (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2012)

Achieving thermal comfort conditions is essential in order to ensure the well-being and productivity levels of the occupants as homes that overheat cause significant discomfort and stress to the occupants. This study aims to identify how the application of automated control systems in residential buildings affects the thermal comfort conditions and the energy consumption of the examined building. To achieve its aims, it examines a typical detached residential building in the UK, using the weather data sets from the Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers (CIBSE).

7.2 Literature review

7.2.1 ICT on smart homes

Smart Homes are becoming a reality with information and communication technologies (ICT) being increasingly present in our homes (EPSRC, no date). A Smart Home is a home that is equipped with highly advanced automatic systems such that all lighting, heating, security system, appliances, and electronic devices can be controlled remotely via smartphone, computer or other devices through the internet or local network (Firth *et al.*, 2013). The effective integration of the artificial lighting system and daylight occurs only

when the artificial lighting system can be switched on or off as a function of daylighting levels reaching the working surface (Ghisi and Tinker, 2005).

It is clear that the behaviour of the occupants in a building can impact significantly on the temperatures in the home (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2012). However building occupants may lack the time, knowledge, or inclination to create optimally efficient environmental conditions. This is where smart building technology can step in, learning and anticipating user preferences, and altering conditions to meet user needs more precisely and flexibly than we can (Royal Academy of Engineering, 2013).

7.2.3 Occupant behavior

Often, there is a substantial discrepancy between the calculated and the real total energy use in buildings. The reasons for this disparity are generally poorly understood and largely have more to do with the role of human behavior than the building design (Fabi *et al.*, 2011).

It is well documented in the literature that the behavior of the occupants has a significant impact on the performance of the building. Andersen et al. (Andersen *et al.*, 2009) present several studies, where it is shown that similar buildings with different usage by the occupants have resulted in significant differences in energy consumption.

As occupant behaviors are part of the building system, with implications for building energy use (Lee and Malkawi, 2013), it is essential to consider the behavior of the building's occupants during its design phase. Better assumptions regarding the behavior of the occupants will result in better estimates of the building's energy consumption. Implementation of automated control systems in residential buildings could help to reduce the number of assumptions made about the behavior of the occupants during the design phase of building.

7.2.4 Window opening/closing behavior

Several studies have investigated which parameters affect the decision of the occupants of residential buildings to open or close a window. Reasons for opening and closing the windows can be biological, psychological, social, time and physical environment (Polinder *et al.*, 2013) Andersen et al. (Andersen *et al.*, 2009) report that the window opening mechanism is strongly related to the outdoor temperature.

The Department for Communities and Local Government in their report "Investigation into Overheating in Homes" report findings in the literature which show that windows were closed to control temperature and that the act of closing the windows is primarily driven by the need of keeping warm rather than keeping cool (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2012). Andersen. (Andersen et al., 2009) notes that if a window is opened because the occupants feel too warm, it will probably stay open until they start to feel cold. This is also supported by the findings of another study performed by Raja et al. (Raja et al., 2001) where reasons for closed windows are presented. These reasons mentioned by the people who were interviewed are ``others want them shut," ``to prevent draught," ``to keep the noise level low," or ``interference with blind" (Raja et al., 2001). Lisa Gobio-Lamin presented a literature review on domestic ventilation practices (Gobio-Lamin, 2012). The study discusses window opening behavior for different dwelling types and different rooms. It is stated that the preferred temperature in bedrooms is lower than in the living rooms and that bedroom windows are opened for much longer periods than the windows of other rooms. In addition to that, the findings of the literature review show that some occupants prefer to keep the windows of the main bedroom open during the night, even in cold weather conditions.

7.2.5 Acceptable thermal comfort conditions

The adaptive model described in ASHRAE 55-2010 (55-2010, 2010) was used to investigate the thermal comfort conditions of the occupants during the examined period. This model introduces the prevailing mean outdoor temperature (Tmo). The (Tmo) is calculated as an arithmetic average of the mean outdoor temperatures over no fewer than seven and no more than thirty sequential days before the day in question (Mousli and Semprini, 2001). Two sets of operative temperature limits – one for 80% acceptability and one for 90% acceptability - were defined. For typical applications, the 80% acceptability limits should be used. The 90% of acceptability limits are acceptable when a higher standard of thermal comfort is required.

The acceptable operative temperatures for naturally conditioned spaces are determined using the equations (6) to (9) (55-2010, 2010).

Upper 80% acceptability limit (°C)	
0.31*Tmo + 21.3	(6)
Upper 90% acceptability limit (°C)	
0.31*Tmo + 20.3	(7)
Lower 80% acceptability limit (°C)	
0.31*Tmo + 14.3	(8)
Lower 90% acceptability limit (°C)	
0.31*Tmo + 15.3	(9)

7.3 Methodology

Thermal simulations of the examined building were performed using EDSL TAS version 9.3.2, a building simulation program developed by Engineering Development Solution Software. TAS is a building modeling and simulation tool capable of performing dynamic thermal simulations of buildings and accurately predicting energy consumption, C02 emissions, operating costs, and occupant comfort (EDSL, 2015b).

The modeling process of a building in EDSL TAS is divided into three parts. The first part is the creation of the 3D model of the building, the second part is the assignment of the various building characteristics, and the third part is the simulation of the building.

Following the input of the model's parameters, the building can be simulated using the TAS Building Simulator. The results of the simulation are shown in the TAS Results Viewer (.tsd).

7.3.1 Description of the building

The examined residential building is a two-floor house with a total area of 333 m^2 . On the ground floor, the building's zones consist of a living room, a dining room, a hall area, a kitchen with a utility room, two storage areas, a WC, and the garage. On the first floor, the building has four bedrooms and a bathroom. The building is naturally ventilated.

Table 18 Building fabric U-values

	Construction	U-Value
Building	External Wall	0.24 W/m ² K
fabric	Partition Wall	0.73 W/m ² K
U-Values	Roof	0.13 W/m ² K
	Windows	2.30 W/m ² K

The front elevation of the building model as it was created in EDSL TAS is shown in Figure 34.



Figure 36 Front elevation of the building



Figure 37 Zoning of the first floor

7.3.2 Examined scenarios

In order to investigate the effect of automated controls on the thermal comfort conditions and energy consumption, two scenarios were investigated. The first scenario represents a manual operation of the windows and the light, and the second scenario represents an automated operation.

The examined period is the week of the year, which includes the day with the highest external temperature. The day with the highest external temperature is the 222nd day of the year, so this study examined the week commencing on the 218th day of the year and ending on the 224th day of the year.

This chapter presents the results for Bedroom 2, which is south facing and Bedroom 3, which is north facing. The bedrooms are considered to be occupied 24 hours a day. Based on the findings of the literature review, the windows of the bedroom were considered fully opened at all times for the manual control scenario.

The findings of the literature review suggest that switching on the light in the early morning often means that it stays on throughout the day. The manual control of the lights is based on a similar norm. The occupants will turn the lights of each zone on when the illuminance levels are lower than the target illuminance, and they will leave them on until the end of the day. The start of the day is modeled to be at 06:00 and the end of the day at 22:00.

The automated opening and closing of the windows are controlled by a function. This function simulates natural ventilation with an external temperature cut-off. The aperture is modeled to begin to open when the resultant temperature in the adjacent zone exceeds 21° C and to be fully open when the resultant temperature reaches 23° C. If the external temperature exceeds the internal temperature, the aperture will begin to close. In order to examine the effect of automated control on the lighting loads, a function that controls the lighting of the zones of the building was modelled. This function models a photocell control of the lighting. Acceptable illuminance levels are maintained at all hours during the occupancy schedule. Target illuminance was set at 100lux. As illuminance increases, lighting gain will decrease. When examining the automated lighting control, a parasitic power of 0.57 W/m² is added to the total lighting gain. This is the amount of energy used

by the photocell sensor.

7.4 Results and discussion

7.4.1 Thermal comfort

Figures 36 and 37 presented below show the operative temperature of bedrooms 2 and 3, respectively. The operative temperature of the manual control scenario is shown by the blue line, and operative temperature of the automated control scenario is shown by the green line. The vertical axis shows the temperature in (°C), and the horizontal axis represents the time. The purple horizontal lines show the 80% acceptability limit, and the yellow lines represent the 90% acceptability limit. The acceptability limits for each day were calculated by the mean outdoor temperature of the previous seven days.

As can be observed from the graphs, the more significant differences in operative temperature between the two scenarios occur during the daytime. This is due to the fact that in the automated control scenario, the windows close when the external temperature is higher than the internal temperature. As a result, lower operative temperatures are achieved, and thermal comfort conditions are improved.



Figure 38 Comparison of operative temperatures (bedroom 2)



Figure 39 Comparison of operative temperatures (bedroom 3)

7.4.2 Lights

The results presented in Figure 38 below show the lighting gains for the two scenarios during the examined period. The blue bars represent the lighting gains for the manual control scenario and the yellow bars for automated control. A reduction of the lighting gains by 49% is recorded for both bedrooms.

Illuminance levels were investigated hourly, and the target illuminance was 100lux. At the start of the day, at 06:00, the illuminance levels were below 100lux, and lighting was provided in order to reach the target illuminance. When examining the manual control scenario, the lights remained on until the end of the day at 22:00 On the other hand when examining the automated control scenario; the lights were off all the hours that the target illuminance was achieved through daylight. In the automated control scenario, artificial lighting was required again at 19:00 in order to reach the target illuminance.

Application of automated systems can result in more energy efficient buildings and more comfortable conditions for the occupants. Furthermore, automated control systems could help to make more accurate estimations about the behavior of the occupants and thus to reduce the gap between the simulated and the actual performance of the building.



Figure 40 Lighting gains (W)

Chapter 8: Effect of Building Development on the Risk of Flooding

8.1 Introduction

There is an increasing body of evidence that extreme daily rainfall rates are becoming more intense. The two-month period of December 2013 and January 2014 was for England and Wales one of, if not the most, exceptional periods of winter rainfall in at least 248 years. The Met Office. In their report "The Recent Storms and Floods in the UK," provides detailed information about the severe winter storms throughout December, January and February 2013/14, which resulted in serious flooding across southern England (Met Office and Center for Ecology and Hydrology, 2014). In addition to that, we also need to account for the effect of climate change.



Figure 41 Central estimate of % change in winter precipitation from the 1961-90 baseline across 25hm quares (2080s for the medium emissions scenario) (UKCP09)

This is the key source of climate change information on which research organizations, regulation, and policy-making bodies, and the insurance industry are basing their responses

to changes in the climate (CIBSE, 2014b). According to the UKCP09, we can expect warmer and wetter winters, hotter and drier summers, rising sea level, and more extreme weather events. These extreme weather events in the UK are likely to increase with rising temperatures, causing among other things, heavier rainfall events. As can be observed from Figure 39, which shows the central estimate of the percentage change in winter precipitation from the 1961-1990 baseline compared to the projected winter precipitation of the 2080s under the medium emission scenario, the amount of rainfall is very likely to increase in almost all areas of the UK. The highest increase (20-29%) is shown in the south of England. Increased winter precipitation is also likely to increase the risk of flooding.

There are several factors that contribute to the flood risk of a specific area. Flooding problems resulting from runoff of surface water generally increase as areas become more urbanized (James M. Wright, 2007), (Jha, Bloch and Lamond, 2013). Increased intensity of development in urban areas has given rise to land with a larger proportion of non-permeable surfaces (RIBA, 2009). In the UK, there is a continuous need for new housing.

The UK government has set a goal of 1,000,000 new homes by 2020 in order to cover the country's housing needs. However, there are other studies that suggest that this will not be enough and that the aim should be to build 300,000 new home each year (Select Committee on Economic Affairs, 2016).

Therefore, it is important to investigate the effect of building development on the risk of flooding. Taking into account the projected increase in winter precipitation, this study examines an area that is currently completely undeveloped under extreme rainfall conditions and looks into the effect that building development has on the risk of flooding.

8.2 Surface water flooding

Surface water flooding occurs when the amount of rainwater exceeds the capacity of the drainage system and cannot be soaked up by the ground. Unlike flooding from rivers, surface water flooding can happen many miles from a river, often in places that people would not expect because it is a long way from a river or stream. Surface water flooding is influenced by features in the landscape, particularly buildings and roads and is caused by rainwater run-off from urban and rural land with low absorbency (RIBA, 2009). Furthermore, surface water flooding is difficult to predict and pinpoint, much more so than river or coastal flooding (Environmental Agency, 2009).

8.3 Effect of building development

The effect of urbanization on flood risk has been explored before by various studies (Nirupama and Simonovic, 2007), (Suriya and Mudgal, 2012).

The effect of development is generally to reduce the permeability of at least part of the site. This markedly changes the site's response to rainfall. Without specific measures, the volume of water that runs off the site and the peak run-off flow rate is likely to increase. Inadequate surface water drainage arrangements in new developments can threaten the development itself and increase the risk of flooding to others (Communities and Local Government, 2010). Urbanization in flood plain areas increases the risk of flooding due to increased peak discharge and volume and decreased time to peak (Suriya and Mudgal, 2012).

8.4 Examined area

The examined area, as shown in Figure 40 (marked in red), is located in the suburbs of Askett town in the United Kingdom. The examined area was selected because it is very likely that significant building development will occur in the near future. At the moment, there are only 23 dwellings located on its south side. It is a greenfield with a total area of 114.2 hectares and four asphalt roads on its sides define its borders. The lowest elevation of the area is at 101 m and the highest at 120 m. The average slope is 1%. The soil in the examined area is loamy and some clayey with slightly impeded drainage. Clayey soils have few sand grains but a lot of extremely small particles, while loamy soils have a mix of sand, silt, and clay-sized particles and are intermediate in character. Slightly impeded drainage is a result of the compact deep subsoil that impedes downward water movement; after heavy rainfall, especially during the winter, the subsoil becomes waterlogged. In soils with impeded drainage, the effect is more severe and winter waterlogging results in very wet ground conditions (National Soil Resources Institute, 2016). The risk of flooding in the examined area is very low. Each year this area has a chance of flooding from surface water of less than 0.1% (Gov.uk, 2016).



Figure 42 Examined area

8.5 Modelling process

The modeling and simulation of the extreme rainfall event for the examined area were performed using the XP SWMM software package.

8.5.1 DTM

The digital terrain model (DTM) is a statistical representation of the continuous surface of the ground by a large number of selected points with known X, Y, and Z coordinates in an arbitrary coordinate field (Gold, 2005). Digital Terrain Models are a significant constituent of geographical information processing, and they help to model, analyze, and display phenomena related to topography or similar surfaces (Longley *et al.*, 1991). Topographical information of the examined area was imported into the software with the creation of a Digital Terrain Model. In order for the software to create the DTM, the coordinates and elevations of the area were loaded in the form of an XYZ file. A photo of the examined area was also loaded in the software and was applied to the same extent as the DTM.

8.5.2 Rainfall

As discussed above, each year, the examined area has a chance of flooding from surface water of less than 0.1%. For the purpose of this study, a rainfall event that has a duration of 240 minutes and a return period of 1000 years was applied to the model, in order to examine the effect of building development on the risk of flooding under extreme rainfall.

In order to create a rainfall event the storm generator of the XP SWMM software was used. The storm was created using the UK Storm Flood Studies Report (FSR) method. The required input for the generation of the storm are the M5-60 in mm, the dimensionless ratio R, the storm duration, the profile, the region of the storm and the return period. The M5-60 is defined as the amount of rainfall of an event with a return period of 5 years and duration of 60 minutes. The ratio R is calculated by dividing the M5-60 minutes value by the M5-2days value (The office of public works, 2012). The values of the M5-60 and R were identified using the Greenfield Runoff Estimation for Sites tool. The M5-60 value was set at 20 mm and the ratio R at 0.4. The duration of the storm was selected to be 240 minutes

(4 hours). Profile of the storm was set to winter and the region of England was selected. Finally the return period was set to 1000 years. Figure 41 below shows the intensity over time of the generated rainfall event.



Figure 43Modeled rainfall event

8.5.3 Land uses

For the examined area, two different land uses have been modelled; one represents the greenfield area and the second one the asphalt roads on the boundaries of the area. The advantage of creating and applying different land uses to the model is that different Manning value and infiltration rates can be assigned to each land use. The Manning value applied to the greenfield area was 0.03, and to the road area, it was 0.016 (ODOT, 2014).

8.5.4 Infiltration

Infiltration is defined as the movement of the water from the soil surface into the soil. The uniform loss method was used to model the infiltration. This method allows for simulation infiltration as an initial amount, followed by a constant rate. The initial loss specifies the depth of rainfall that infiltrates before runoff occurs. The continuing loss occurs after the
initial loss has been satisfied (*XP Solutions*, 2016). In this model, the initial loss was defined at 10 mm and the continuing loss at 2 mm.

The depression storage and the Manning's 'n' value also needed to be specified both for the pervious and the impervious area of the model. Furthermore, for the impervious area, the zero-detention percentage needed to be identified.

Depression storage is the ability of a particular area of land to retain water in its pits and depressions and prevent it from flowing. Water stored as depression storage in impervious areas is depleted by evaporation. Depression storage for the impervious area is calculated by the following equation:

$$D_{p} = 0.0303 \times S^{-0.49} (Correlation \ coefficient 0.85)$$
(10)

Where:

 D_p = depression storage (inches)

S = catchment slope (%)

Water stored as depression storage in pervious areas is subject to both infiltration and evaporation. This parameter is best represented as an interception loss, based on the type of surface vegetation. For grassed urban surfaces, a value of 0.10 in. Is typical (*XP Solutions*, 2016).

The zero-detention percentage refers to the percentage of the sub-catchment impervious area with zero-depression storage (immediate runoff). The zero-detention percentage for the examined area was set at 20%.

Manning's 'n' values were specified as discussed in the Land uses the section above.

8.5.5 Modelling of the buildings

Buildings were specified in the model as Fill Areas. This means that water can penetrate the building when it reaches above a defined Fill Level. The Fill Level for the buildings in this model was set at 0.30 m above the building's ground elevation.

8.6 Examined scenarios

The area was initially simulated as it is, with only the existing building development. This includes 23 dwellings, as shown in the bottom part of Figure 42 and the asphalt roads that are the boundaries of the examined area. In the following, a second scenario that represents the area as it is likely to be after the completion of the development works was modeled and simulated. In the second scenario, 123 new properties were modeled and also eight new asphalt road was added to connect them with the existing road network. Figures 42 and 43 below show the site as it was simulated in the two scenarios.



Figure 44 Scenario 1 - Current condition



Figure 45 Scenario 2 - Completed building development

8.7 Results and discussion



Comparison of the max water depth and hazard maps of the two scenarios.

Figure 46 Max water depth under current building development

Figure 44 shows the maximum water depth of the examined area under the current building development. The maximum water depth is shown almost in the middle of the area and is at 1.05 meters. This due to the topography of the area that creates a pond in that spot, which fills with rainwater. Apart from that, it can be seen that there is a significant part of the area where the water depth is at 0 meters. For almost all the other areas the maximum water depth is below 0.30 m, with the exception being a few spots, mainly in the bottom right and top left part of the area, with a maximum depth of around 0.60 m. Also, the topography of the area forms another two ponds just outside of the limits of the examined field.



Figure 47 Max Hazard (VxD) under current building development

Figure 45 shows the maximum hazard (VxD) under the current building's development. As can be seen, almost the entire area has zero hazards. The areas where the hazard appears are the areas with the maximum depth described above. As discussed in section 8.4, where the examined area is analyzed, this area has only a 0.1% chance of flooding from surface water. The results of the simulation validate this, as the area shows almost zero hazards even under an extreme rainfall event with a return period of 1000 years.



Figure 48 Max water depth after completion of building development

Figure 46 shows the maximum water depth in the examined area after the completion of the building development. The maximum water depth is in the middle of the field, where the pond is located, at 1.05 meters, which as expected is the same as in the first scenario. In addition to that, there is another spot with a maximum depth of 0.80 meters on the top right of the field. As it can be observed, the water covers the area of the modeled buildings. This is due to the fact that the buildings have been modelled as fill areas, with a fill height of 0.30 meters. For the buildings that are covered with water, water depth has exceeded the fill height and has penetrated inside the building. It is worth mentioning that all of the 123 buildings modeled in the second scenario are covered with water. Furthermore, there are various spots on the asphalt roads that show water depths from 0.10 to 0.80 meters.



Figure 49 Max Hazard (VxD) after completion of building development

Figure 47 shows the max hazard of the examined building for the second scenario. Similar to the first investigated scenario, there is an extended area of the field with zero hazards. However, the areas with a max hazard above zero have increased compared to the case with no building development. The maximum hazard for this scenario is 0.63 and is located on the bottom left of the field, on the asphalt road, exactly on the borders of the examined field.

The modeling of the buildings as fill areas has significantly affected the result of the hazard map. Allowing the water to enter the building when it exceeded the height 0.3 meters has normalized the water depth across the field.

Chapter 9. The Effects of Sustainable Drainage Systems on Residential Developments During Extreme Rainfall

9.1 Introduction

Flooding is identified as the most significant risk, currently and in the short term, across the UK (Defra, 2012). There is an increasing body of evidence that extreme daily rainfall rates are becoming more intense (Met Office and Center for Ecology and Hydrology, 2014). In June–July 2007, severe rainfall during an extremely wet summer led to the flooding of 48,000 households and 7,300 businesses across England (The UK Cabinet Office, 2015). Throughout December, January and February 2013/14, the UK was affected by an exceptional run of severe winter storms, culminating in coastal damage and widespread flooding from January onwards (Met Office and Center for Ecology and Hydrology, 2014). Consequences of flooding may include the loss of human lives, damage to property and infrastructure, loss or interruption to the supply of essential goods and services, disruption to transport and energy networks and depending on the nature of the incident, contamination and environmental damage (The UK Cabinet Office, 2015).

Evidence that extreme rainfall intensity is increasing on a global scale has strengthened considerably in recent years. Research now indicates that the most significant increases are likely to occur in short-duration storms lasting less than a day, potentially leading to an increase in the magnitude and frequency of flash floods. Furthermore, several observation-based analyses have indicated that sub-daily extreme rainfall is intensifying more rapidly than daily rainfall (Westra et al., 2014). In the UK, the National Flood Resilience Report published by the Government in 2015, states that when we want to assess what extreme flooding looks like, we typically model the effects of a scenario with a nominal 0.1% chance of occurring in a year at any given location, using local detailed models (HM Government, 2016). Therefore, for the purpose of this study, the extreme rainfall events were modeled with a return period of 1000 years.

The UK Climate Projections are the key source of climate change information on which research organizations, regulation, and policy-making bodies, and the insurance industry are basing their responses to changes in the UK's climate. According to the UK Climate

Projections (UKCP09) published in June 2009, we can expect to have warmer and wetter winters, hotter and drier summers, rising sea levels and more extreme weather events (Gething, 2010). Increased precipitation is also likely to increase the risk of flooding.

In addition to that, the risk of flooding is intensified by the heightened need for new housing and the increasing urbanization. Higher densities of development reduce the amount of natural soak-away available and strain the existing drainage infrastructure (RIBA, 2009). The housing supply has increased in the UK by over 1.1 million since 2010 (Mun and Han, 2011). In the Autumn Budget 2017, the government announced a new policy which will raise the housing supply to its highest levels since 1970 with the aim of providing 300,000 houses per year (Mun and Han, 2011). Research shows that if we do not change the way we design our urban areas and manage surface water runoff more effectively, flood-related problems are going to get worse (CIRIA, 2015).

Sustainable drainage systems are an alternative approach to the design of drainage with the design objectives of controlling the quantity of runoff to support the management of flood risk and protect the natural water cycle, to manage the quality of runoff to prevent pollution, to create and sustain better places for people and to create and sustain better places for nature (CIRIA, 2015). They are designed to maximize the opportunities and benefits we can secure from surface water management and deliver high-quality drainage while supporting urban areas to cope with severe rainfall both now and in the future (CIRIA, 2015). Examples of SuDS are rainwater harvesting systems, green roofs, pervious pavements, bioretention systems, trees, swales, detention basins, soakaways, and infiltration basins (CIRIA, 2015). This chapter looks into the effect of rainwater harvesting, pervious pavements, and infiltration basins on the risk of flooding for a new build residential development in the south west of England.

Rainwater harvesting is the gathering of rainwater runoff for use. Runoff can be collected from roofs and other impermeable areas, stored, treated (when required) and then used as a supply of water for domestic, commercial, industrial and/or institutional properties (CIRIA, 2015). Rainwater harvesting systems involve three principal components: the catchment area, the collection device and the conveyance system and because of their simplicity, they can be expanded, reconfigured or relocated to meet each household's needs (Liuzzo, Notaro and Freni, 2016). On average, every person in England and Wales uses around 150 litres of water per day (Environment Agency, 2003). The application of

rainwater harvesting systems could help to capture runoff at the source as well as reduce the demand on mains water.

Pervious pavements provide a pavement suitable for pedestrian and/or vehicular traffic while allowing rainwater to infiltrate though the surface and into the underlying structural layers. The water is temporarily stored beneath the overlying surface before use, infiltration through the ground or as controlled discharge downstream (CIRIA, 2015). Permeable paving, as discussed by Hubert, Edwards, and Jahromi (Hubert, Edwards and Jahromi, 2013), uses conventional materials such as concrete or asphalt that are modified to allow the passing of flow in footpaths and larger structures such as car parks. Using this kind of sustainable drainage would significantly reduce the requirements of the local drainage systems to deal with runoff flows, while also providing "safe" locations for potential flooding that would not harm properties. Furthermore, permeable pavement systems have not only been established as a SuDS solution but also as a technology for pollutant control concerning surface runoff from areas used as roads or parking spaces, where contaminated water may infiltrate into the underlying soil (Scholz and Grabowiecki, 2007).

Infiltration basins are flat-bottomed, shallow landscape depressions that store runoff before infiltration into the subsurface soils. They are typically grassed structures, but some additional vegetation can enhance the appearance of the basin, stabilize side slopes, and prevent erosion and serve as wildlife habitat (CIRIA, 2015). Also, they are typically designed to half empty within 24 hours and can be served by either underground pipe networks that discharge into the basin, or a series of trenches and drains that lead to the basin. The use of trenches provides the added benefit of treating runoff to remove pollutants before reaching the basin.

This study examined a new build residential development located in the south west of England using the MicroDrainage software package and aims to identify the effect of three different types of SuDS (rainwater harvesting, permeable paving, and attenuations basins) on the risk of flooding under extreme rainfall events. The development is subjected to a rainfall event with a return period of 1000 year, and various storm durations were examined.

9.2 Materials and methods

9.2.1 Modelling of the examined area using MicroDrainage

The modeling of the case study was performed using the MicroDrainage software package. MicroDrainage, an Innovyze software package, is considered as the UK drainage and flood systems' industry standard product (Hubert, Edwards and Jahromi, 2013). Initially, the examined area was divided into individual subcatchments, each draining to a node within that area, and the areas of different impermeable and permeable surfaces were calculated. A baseline scenario, in which no SuDS were implemented in the model, was simulated using an extreme rainfall event with a return period of 1000 years. Simulations were performed for seven different storm durations. In the following, separate simulations were performed for each of the examined SuDS, and the results were compared with the baseline scenario against the assessment criteria specified in section 9.2.6.

9.2.2 Permeable Paving

From the subcatchment generation process, total impermeable area values are available for each subcatchment. These areas were further broken down into different types of impermeable areas, such as paths, roads, roofs, and parking. As 100% adoption of all paved areas is highly unlikely, either due to slope restrictions or maximum loading or the existence of proposed services which cannot be laid in permeable paving, the uptake of permeable paving within the development site was limited to designated car parking areas. The designated car parking areas of the examined location can be seen in Figure 49. A partial infiltration system was selected for this research, which allows some infiltration into the ground while stored, but also allows for flow to enter the system. The partial infiltration system was chosen because ground conditions from different sites may vary and could mean that full infiltration with no connection to the surface water network s possible, or it could mean that permeability is poor, and no infiltration is possible, therefore a partial infiltration system was chosen as a compromise between the two scenarios.

Standard dimensions for permeable paving were used to replicate the attenuation on a subcatchment level, with a 0.6m depth and a voids ratio of 0.3 (CIRIA, 2015). To replicate

the attenuation volume present within each subcatchment, an infiltration trench was modelled of 1m length and a width equal to the total parking surface area present within each subcatchment. The use of an infiltration trench allows for the partial infiltration to ground of 2500mm/hr (CIRIA, 2015) (this has been attributed a safety factor of 2, which leads to infiltration of 1250 mm/hr, which is used to factor the reduction of infiltration over time caused by sediment build up) and is connected into the surface water network by a 75 mm entry pipe.

9.2.3 Rainwater harvesting

Using a CIRIA SUDS Manual (CIRIA, 2015) the implementation of rainwater harvesting in the proposed development site was calculated based on the total roof area within each subcatchment identified from the subcatchment generation process. From the SUDS manual, the simple surface water management method was used.

This was used on the basis that the ratio between Yr (Yield Volume) and Dn (Average annual demand) is less than 0.33. Therefore annual average demand can be discounted towards the total storage volume.

$$D_N = P_d \ n \ \times \ 365 \ \times \ 0.05 \tag{11}$$

Where:

 D_N = total annual property demand for non-potable water (l) P_d = daily demand per person (l) n = number of occupants in the property

The daily demand per person was set at 40 liter/capita/day (CIRIA, 2015). According to the Office of National Statistics (Office for National Statistics, 2013), the average occupancy rate for properties in the United Kingdom is currently 2.3. Using the above-mentioned values, the total annual demand for non-potable water is calculated at DN = 1,679.

The design storm event runoff coefficient is identified in The SUDS Manual (CIRIA, 2015) as 0.9 (a standard pitched roof with tiles). This also specifies that the hydraulic filter efficiency ratio should be set as 90% (0.9) unless manufacturer specifications state otherwise.

The total storage area for each subcatchment was calculated using:

$$V_{SC} = \frac{A R_d \beta \eta}{1000} \tag{12}$$

Where:

 V_{SC} = storage volume (m³)

A = contributing runoff area (m^2)

 R_d = design storm event rainfall depth (mm)

 β = design storm runoff coefficient

 η = hydraulic filter efficiency (ratio)

9.2.4 Attenuation basins

The third SuDS option considered in this case study consists of a series of attenuation basins and storage ponds that are located outside the development boundary along the route of the surface water network. The existing pipes at these locations have been replaced with 1 in 3 side sloped swales to the west of the site, while two large storage ponds have been sized to the south. These attenuation basins are designed with a limited discharge of 5 l/s. One of the attenuation basins is located at utility hole S51 with a total storage volume of 1,454.1m³, and the second one is located at utility hole S47 with a total storage volume of 2,654.2m³. The exact location of utility holes S47 and S51 can be seen in Figure 48.

No infiltration was considered as part of this scenario for the attenuation basins and are considered purely for attenuation of contributing flows.



Figure 50 Overview of surface water network for the examined development site

9.2.5 Modelling assumptions

Several assumptions were made in order to allow for a direct comparison between different scenarios without any external factors or variables:

- No incoming flows would enter the system from the surrounding areas. It was
 assumed that the proposed surface water network is isolated, and no interaction
 with any other surface water or foul network was present. As the vast majority of
 new build development sites would be on the outskirts of existing urban areas, it
 was assumed that the development site would be located at the head of the surface
 water network.
- No infiltration into the surface water network has been included as part of this
 research. This is because this research is focused on new residential developments.
 Therefore it was reasonable to assume that all surface water pipes and connections
 would be sealed correctly, and there would be no degradation of the network.

- 100% of the factored contributing area was applied to each subcatchment. This represents the worst-case scenario for each subcatchment where all calculated areas will drain to the surface water network.
- Full uptake of each SuDS system was assumed for all areas that relate to the SuDS aspect being assessed.
- Ground conditions are acceptable for infiltration.
- All flooding was modelled as a 'stored' flood type. This means that volumes of flooding are stored in a flood cone above ground and re-enter the network when capacity is available. This, therefore, means that no volume is lost in the network once it floods.

9.2.6 Assessment criteria

The model simulations were analyzed by three assessment criteria, which are specified below, in order to determine the effectiveness of each scenario through the varying rainfall intensities. The assessment criteria used in this case study are:

- Individual flood volume: the individual flood volume for each node was assessed to determine whether localized flooding within the site can be reduced with the incorporation of SUDS. Scenarios were assessed for reduction of flood volume at each modeled node during the critical duration storm event. The impact of SuDS was also checked against non-critical duration storm events, and the most significant impact (positive and negative) was identified.
- Total flood volume (Catchment wide): this assesses the overall site wide benefit of SuDS, for instance, where a localized issue may predict no improvement or detriment; however, the remaining system overall showed significant improvement when assessing the total volume of flooding predicted.
- The total reduction in volume: that assesses the amount of infiltration that the SuDS options provide to reduce the volume in the network. In this case study, there was no modeled infiltration in the baseline scenario, so any infiltration predicted will be the direct result of the proposed options.

9.3 Examined area

The residential development is located in the South West of England and covers a total area of 4.124 ha, of which 2.798 ha is classified as impermeable and 1.326 ha permeable. There are 148 properties within the development site. The surface water network for this site contains 1,259.842 m of the sewer with 53 manholes. Figure 49 shows a surface breakdown of the development site.



Figure 51 Overview of runoff surface breakdown within the development site



Figure 52 Pipe diameters within the network

Figure 50 shows the different pipe diameters with the network of the examined development. Furthermore, Table 20 provides the total length of each pipe diameter used in the network.

Diameter	Length (m)
(mm)	
225	336.128
300	501.176
375	167.346
450	225.192

Table 19 Sewer diameters and lengths



Figure 53 Generated subcatchments

9.4 Modelled rainfall event

Synthetic Flood Studies Report (FSR) rainfall with a return period of 1000 years was applied to the development site. Simulations were performed for storm durations of 30, 60, 120, 240, 360, 720, and 1440 minutes.

The FSR rainfall was developed using recorded rainfall from 1941 to 1970, and the rainfall model was calculated based on the rainfall depth during a 5-year 60-minute storm event for the geographic location provided.

Synthetic rainfall assumes a symmetrical profile, with rainfall intensities exponentially increasing over time to the rainfall peak exactly halfway during the rainfall event. From this point, rainfall intensity reduces at the same rate that it increased.

No climate change was considered as part of this research. In order to replicate the worstcase scenario for the surface water network, a summer profile has been selected for this study.

As the development site is located in the South West of England, MicroDrainage applied the M5-60 storm depth of 19 mm and a ratio R-value of 0.4.

The ratio R is the ratio of rainfall depths from storm events of 60 minutes divided by 2880 minutes (2-day duration). As per the rainfall depth, this is determined by the location of the model within the UK. These values were selected from MicroDrainage using the map browser to select a general area (south west England).

9.5 Results and discussion

The following results and discussion focus on the modeling outputs from MicroDrainage against the assessment criteria specified in Section 9.2.6.

9.5.1 Baseline scenario



Figure 54 1000-year baseline flooding locations

The simulation results show significant flooding throughout the catchment. In total, there are 26 predicted flood locations and a further 16 flood risk locations. This number of flooding and near flooding locations (80% of all manholes within the catchment) shows that the entire system is inundated and there is insufficient capacity throughout the system to deal with a storm event of this magnitude.

Manhole	May Elaad Valuma (m3)	Critical Storm Duration		
Name	Max Flood Volume (m ²)	(min)		
1	0.373	30		
2	6.56	30		
3	0.38	30		
6	15.403	30		
7	0.037	30		
8	2.546	30		
9	1.651	30		
16	1.113	30		
18	239.988	120		
19	178.678	120		
20	164.695	120		
24	110.488	120		
25	132.501	60		
27	3.288	30		
28	17.6	30		
29	0.414	30		
30	1.39	30		
31	1.014	30		
33	1.298	30		
35	6.085	30		
36	31.392	30		
37	3.032	30		
39	12.63	30		
47	53.798	60		
51	16.997	60		
52	0.481	30		

Table 20 Max flood volume critical storm duration for baseline scenario

9.5.2 Permeable paving

As shown in Figure 49, each subcatchment within the development site had a contributing parking area. This meant that the implementation of the permeable paving solution would provide additional storage volume throughout the network, in addition to catchment-wide infiltration of varying degrees depending on the total parking area within the individual subcatchments.

Simulations showed that critical durations were not altered by this solution, with short duration rainfall events still producing the worst case predicted flooding.



Figure 55 1000-year flooding locations - permeable paving

BASELINE			SCENARIO 1 (Permeable Paving)		
Manhole	Max Flood	Critical	Max Flood	Impact	Impact (%)
Name	Volume (m ³)	Storm	Volume (m ³)	(m³)	
		Duration			
		(min)			
1	0.373	30	0	-0.373	-100
2	6.56	30	0	-6.56	-100
3	0.38	30	0	-0.38	-100
6	15.403	30	3.47	-11.933	-77.5
7	0.037	30	0	-0.037	-100
8	2.546	30	0	-2.546	-100
9	1.651	30	0	-1.651	-100
16	1.113	30	0	-1.113	-100
18	239.988	120	194.11	-45.878	-19.1
19	178.678	120	127.731	-50.947	-28.5
20	164.695	120	120.34	-44.355	-26.9
24	110.488	120	75.315	-35.173	-31.8
25	132.501	60	97.179	-35.322	-26.7
27	3.288	30	0.373	-2.915	-88.7
28	17.6	30	2.607	-14.993	-85.2
29	0.414	30	0	-0.414	-100
30	1.39	30	0	-1.39	-100
31	1.014	30	0	-1.014	-100
33	1.298	30	0	-1.298	-100
35	6.085	30	0.123	-5.962	-98
36	31.392	30	14.73	-16.662	-53.1
37	3.032	30	0	-3.032	-100
39	12.63	30	2.473	-10.157	-80.4
47	53.798	60	30.122	-23.676	-44
51	16.997	60	2.322	-14.675	-86.3
52	0.481	30	0.48	-0.001	-0.2
TOTAL	1003.83	-	671.375	-332.46	-33.1

Table 21 Impact of permeable pavement on max flood volume

With widespread flooding predicted across the catchment, the permeable paving attenuation and infiltration capabilities potential provides a noticeable benefit to the site during critical durations. Figure 53 shows that predicted flood volumes were reduced or resolved to flood risk classification at six locations throughout the catchment. There were also four additional locations where water levels reduced from flood risk status to surcharge. The total reduction in peak flood volume is predicted to be 332.46 m³, equating to a 33.1% reduction.

9.5.3 Rainwater harvesting

Rainwater harvesting scenario simulations provide attenuation for each subcatchment (with the exception of subcatchment 25, which has no contributing roof area). The areas calculated from the subcatchment generation process identified significantly higher areas on average compared against scenario 1, which consequently would lead to more attenuation available in the network. However, unlike the permeable paving scenario, the rainwater harvesting has been replicated with no infiltration into the ground, so while there is higher volume in the rainwater harvesting scenario, there will be more flow to attenuate/discharge.

Simulations showed that the implementation of rainwater harvesting did not impact the critical durations for peak flood volumes within the network.



Figure 56 1000-year flooding locations - rainwater harvesting

BASELINE			SCENARIO 2 (Rainwater harvesting)		
Manhole	Max Flood	Critical	Max Flood	Impact	Impact (%)
Name	Volume (m ³)	Storm	Volume (m ³)	(m³)	
		Duration			
		(min)			
1	0.373	30	0	-0.373	-100
2	6.56	30	0	-6.56	-100
3	0.38	30	0	-0.38	-100
6	15.403	30	0.96	-14.443	-93.8
7	0.037	30	0	-0.037	-100
8	2.546	30	0	-2.546	-100
9	1.651	30	0	-1.651	-100
16	1.113	30	0	-1.113	-100
18	239.988	120	173.445	-66.543	-27.7
19	178.678	120	156.181	-22.497	-12.6
20	164.695	120	107.909	-56.786	-34.5

Table 22 Impact of rainwater harvesting on max flood volume

24	110.488	120	55.201	-55.287	-50
25	132.501	60	78.747	-53.754	-40.6
27	3.288	30	0.526	-2.762	-84
28	17.6	30	0.749	-16.851	-95.7
29	0.414	30	0	-0.414	-100
30	1.39	30	0	-1.39	-100
31	1.014	30	0	-1.014	-100
33	1.298	30	0	-1.298	-100
35	6.085	30	0	-6.085	-100
36	31.392	30	9.782	-21.61	-68.8
37	3.032	30	0	-3.032	-100
39	12.63	30	0.452	-12.178	-96.4
47	53.798	60	14.645	-39.153	-72.8
51	16.997	60	0.466	-16.531	-97.3
52	0.481	30	0.303	-0.178	-37
TOTAL	1003.83	-	599.366	-404.47	-40.3

It is predicted that the implementation of rainwater harvesting will provide sufficient benefit to the network to resolve 13 locations of predicted flooding across the network. The majority of these locations are located at the upstream end of the branches, indicating that the calculated attenuation volumes allow for sufficient storage during peak conditions to prevent flooding until capacity in the network is made available.

The total predicted flooding benefit is 404.47m³ of runoff across the 26 flood locations predicted during the baseline scenario, representing a 40.3% improvement to the network. Three other locations in the network were shown to improve from flood risk to a surcharge state.

9.5.4 Attenuation basins

The provision of attenuation basins in the downstream network where flooding is predicted provides significant benefit. However, the provision of attenuation downstream does not guarantee that flooding in the upstream branches of the network will be resolved. This scenario also assumes that the surrounding areas to the development site have no existing developments/uses that would limit or prevent the construction of large attenuation basins on the boundary borders.



Figure 57 1000-year flooding locations - attenuated basins

Model simulations show that the majority of flooding in the catchment is resolved in this scenario with a total reduction in flooding of 951m³, approximately 95%.

BASELINE			SCENARIO 2 (Rainwater harvesting)		
Manhole	Max Flood	Critical	Max Flood	Impact	Impact (%)
Name	Volume (m ³)	Storm	Volume (m ³)	(m³)	
		Duration			
		(min)			
1	0.373	30	0	-0.373	-100
2	6.56	30	0	-6.56	-100
3	0.38	30	0	-0.38	-100
6	15.403	30	0	-15.403	-100
7	0.037	30	0	-0.037	-100
8	2.546	30	0.746	-1.8	-70.7
9	1.651	30	1.26	-0.391	-23.7
16	1.113	30	0	-1.113	-100
18	239.988	120	24.022	-215.966	-90
19	178.678	120	20.467	-158.211	-88.5
20	164.695	120	0	-164.695	-100
24	110.488	120	0	-110.488	-100
25	132.501	60	0	-132.501	-100
27	3.288	30	1.323	-1.965	-59.8
28	17.6	30	0.934	-16.666	-94.7
29	0.414	30	0	-0.414	-100
30	1.39	30	0	-1.39	-100
31	1.014	30	0	-1.014	-100
33	1.298	30	0	-1.298	-100
35	6.085	30	0	-6.085	-100
36	31.392	30	3.24	-28.152	-89.7
37	3.032	30	0	-3.032	-100
39	12.63	30	0	-12.63	-100
47	53.798	60	0	-53.798	-100
51	16.997	60	0	-16.997	-100
52	0.481	30	0	-0.481	-100
TOTAL	1003.83	-	51.992	-951.84	-94.8

Table 23 Impact of attenuation basins on max flood volume

10 : Chapter Conclusions

Extreme weather events can significantly affect the performance of the buildings. This study aimed to examine the resilience of three different types of buildings to extreme hot weather conditions and under extreme rainfall.

This thesis has presented six case studies, four regarding the resilience of buildings to extreme heat and two to extreme rainfall. Each case study was undertaken to examine improvement measures on the resilience of buildings to extreme weather events.

The examined case studies are:

- 1. Effect of window-to-wall ratio on thermal comfort and energy consumption
- 2. Effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort
- 3. Ventilation techniques to reduce the risk of overheating of a school building
- Effect of automated natural ventilation and lighting strategy on the thermal comfort for a residential building
- 5. Effect of building development on the risk of the flooding
- The effects of sustainable drainage systems on residential developments during extreme rainfall

The results of this research work present practical approaches of mitigating the effects of extreme hot weather and extreme rainfall events. This study has shown that buildings with fully glazed facades are likely to become intolerable for the occupants in the future and that buildings with lower window to wall ratios will have better thermal comfort conditions. Furthermore, it has demonstrated that relative humidity control can improve the thermal comfort conditions for the occupants of a building and therefore should be considered as measure to mitigate the effect of extreme hot weather. Additionally, this research has demonstrated that for a residential building automated control of the opening of the windows results in reduced operative temperatures and improved thermal comfort conditions. Based on the results of the simulations performed, this study recommends that for school buildings similar to the one examined in this research mixed mode ventilation should be preferred over mechanical ventilation strategy, as it results in less energy consumption. This research has also quantified the effect of three SuDS for a new build residential development.

The results of this Thesis serve as design guidelines for buildings to help increase their resilience to extreme hot weather and extreme rainfall events.

10.1 Case Study 1: Effect of window-to-wall ratio on thermal comfort and energy consumption

This case study examined eight variations of the window-to-wall ratio for an educational building and quantified its effect on the cooling and lighting loads and the thermal comfort conditions.

The results of the simulations have shown that a window-to-wall ratio of 30% results in the least amount of cooling loads and a window-to-wall ratio of 80% or 90% results in the least amount of lighting loads. Facades with a window-to-wall ratio of 40% to 50% have the lowest combined value of cooling and lighting loads.

Investigation of the thermal comfort conditions during the hottest day of the examined period has shown that lower window-to-wall ratios result in more comfortable conditions. Especially under the projected weather conditions of the 2050s, only when the building is modelled with a 20% or 30%, the window-to-wall ratio can thermal comfort conditions be achieved. The high PPD values of ratios from 40%-90% show that buildings with glazed facades are likely to become intolerable for the occupants in the future.

10.2 Case Study 2: Effect of relative humidity on thermal comfort

This study examined the effect of relative humidity on the thermal comfort of a fully glazed office building in West London under the current weather conditions and the projected weather conditions of the 2050s during the non-heating period from May to September.

Investigation of the effect of relative humidity on the thermal comfort has shown that when the relative humidity is set to 40%, thermal comfort is improved on 68% of the total occupied hours during the summer months.

10.3 Case study 3: Ventilation techniques to reduce the risk of overheating of a school building

This study examined the risk of overheating for a school building in 14 different locations in the UK using the CIBSE DSY weather data sets. It identified locations in the UK where naturally ventilated school buildings with similar construction are likely to achieve thermal comfort conditions even under extreme hot weather conditions. Furthermore, it examined the performance of the building in mixed mode and as mechanically ventilated, and it quantified the amount of cooling loads required in order to comply with the BB101 criteria. Finally, it performed simulations of the building under projected weather conditions of the 2050s and presented a comparison between the current and the future weather conditions.

This chapter has shown that in Glasgow and in Edinburgh classrooms of naturally ventilated school buildings are likely to comply with the overheating criteria set in BB101 under the current weather conditions. For the rest of the examined locations, the building requires mechanical cooling in order to achieve thermal comfort conditions, Simulations of the building in mixed mode and as mechanically ventilated have shown that mixed mode ventilation should be preferred over mechanical ventilation strategy, as it results in less energy consumption.

10.4 Case study 4: Effect of Automated Natural Ventilation and Lighting Strategy on the Thermal Comfort for a Residential Building

This study aimed to identify the effect of automated control systems on thermal comfort and lighting gains. More specifically, it examined a typical detached residential building in the UK using dynamic thermal simulation and the weather files from CIBSE and presented the results for a south facing and a north facing bedroom.

Automated control of the opening of the windows resulted in reduced operative temperatures and improved thermal comfort conditions. Operative temperatures of the examined rooms were compared with the 80% and 90% acceptability limits defined in ASHRAE 55-2010. Using automated control systems on the windows resulted in differences of up to 4°C during the daytime. Automated control of lighting based on target illuminance levels resulted in a 49% reduction of lighting gains for both rooms.

10.5 Case study 5: Effect of building development on the risk of the flooding

This chapter looked into the effect of building development on the risk of flooding under extreme rainfall conditions for an area with a 0.1% chance of flooding from surface water.

Two different scenarios were modelled, one represented the area in its current condition with very little building development, and the other with full building development.

Comparison of the results of the two scenarios shows that building development affects the risk of flooding from surface water, even in areas with a meagre chance of flooding. In the scenario with complete building development, the results have shown higher water depths and an increase in the areas of the examined field with a hazard above zero. Furthermore, water penetrated into all the modelled buildings, which had a fill height of 0.30 meters.

10.6 Case study 6: The Effects of Sustainable Drainage Systems on Residential Developments During Extreme Rainfall

This research set out to determine the quantitative benefits of three different types of SuDS (permeable paving, rainwater harvesting & attenuation basins) for a new build residential development.

The simulation results indicate that the implementation of SUDS shows a net benefit with regards to flooding volumes, which was expected as increasing storage volume or infiltrating flows from the network will reduce the demand on the network.

The rate of reduction between different SuDS solutions varies. For instance, the permeable paving solution (scenario 1) provides an approximate 33% benefit against the examined storm events. While this is found to be the smallest percentage benefit, it must also be considered that the available area for implementation of permeable paving is approximately half of the available area for scenario 2 (RWH). If the implementation of permeable paving or footpaths, the predicted benefit would also increase.

Based on the determined areas within each subcatchment, it is clear that the implementation of rainwater harvesting would be the easiest solution to incorporate into new developments, as every development site is guaranteed to have a roof area, whereas the availability of paving suitable for permeable paving is unknown.

The implementation of scenario 3 (attenuation basins) showed the most significant benefit in terms of flood reduction and would also provide an amenity as well as biodiversity benefits for the development. In this scenario, flooding was limited to seven locations. However, it must be considered that the location of the attenuation basins and swales was outside the development site and cannot necessarily be transferred to a different development site, as the cost of purchasing this land for designated attenuation basins has not been assessed or incorporated into this research. It also cannot be guaranteed that the required land area would be available without further knowledge of the surrounding area.

References

55-2010, A. (2010) 'ANSI/ASHRAE Standard 55-2010', 2010, p. 42. doi: ISSN 1041-2336.

Aliyu, A. A., Bello, M. U., Kasim, R. and Martin, D. (2014) 'Positivist and Non-Positivist Paradigm in Social Science Research: Conflicting Paradigms or Perfect Partners?', *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 4(3), pp. 79–95. doi: 10.5539/jms.v4n3p79.

Amoako-attah, J. (2015) Impact of climate change on newly detached residential buildings in the UK passive mitigation and adaptation strategies.

Amoako-Attah, J. and B-Jahromi, A. (2015) 'Method comparison analysis of dwellings' temperatures in the UK', *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Engineering Sustainability*, 168(1), pp. 16–27.

Andersen, R. V., Toftum, J., Andersen, K. K. and Olesen, B. W. (2009) 'Survey of occupant behaviour and control of indoor environment in Danish dwellings', *Energy and Buildings*, 41(1), pp. 11–16. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2008.07.004.

Antwi, Stephen & Kasim, Hamza. (2015). Qualitative and Quantitative Research Paradigms in Business Research: A Philosophical Reflection. European Journal of Business and Management.

Aynsley, R. (2007) *Natural Ventilation in Passive Design*. Available at: http://www.environmentdesignguide.com.au/media/TEC02.pdf (Accessed: 12 March 2017).

Bakó-Biró, Z., Clements-Croome, D. J., Kochhar, N., Awbi, H. B. and Williams, M. J.
(2012) 'Ventilation rates in schools and pupils' performance', *Building and Environment*, 48, pp. 215–223. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2011.08.018.

Balaras, C. A. (1996) 'The role of thermal mass on the cooling load of buildings. An overview of computational methods', *Energy and Buildings*, 24. Available at:

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.463.3956&rep=rep1&type=pdf (Accessed: 20 March 2017).

Barbhuiya, S. and Barbhuiya, S. (2013) 'Thermal comfort and energy consumption in a UK educational building', *Building and Environment*, pp. 1–11. doi:

10.1016/j.buildenv.2013.06.002.

BB101 (2006) Building Bulletin 101 Ventilation of school buildings.

Bellia, L., De Falco, F. and Minichiello, F. (2013) 'Effects of solar shading devices on energy requirements of standalone office buildings for Italian climates', *Applied Thermal Engineering*. Elsevier Ltd, 54(1), pp. 190–201. doi: 10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2013.01.039.

Bennett, O. and Hartwell-Naguib, S. (2014) 'Flood defence spending in England', *Science and Environment*, pp. 1–13.

Boduch, M. and Fincher, W. (2009) 'Standards of Human Comfort Relative and Absolute'. Available at: https://repositories.lib.utexas.edu/bitstream/handle/2152/13980/1boduch_fincher-standards_of_human_comfort.pdf?sequence=2 (Accessed: 3 March 2017). Bowker, P., Escarameia, M. and Tagg, A. (2007) 'Improving the Flood Performance of New Buildings - Flood Resilient Construction', *Communities*, p. 100. BSRIA (2009) 'The illustrated guide to aerodynamics'.

BSRIA (2009) The illustrated guide to aerodynamics'.

C A Doswell III (2003) 'Floods as a Direct Result of Precipitation'. Available at: http://curry.eas.gatech.edu/Courses/6140/ency/Chapter8/Ency_Atmos/Flooding.pdf (Accessed: 10 March 2017).

Caldwell, B. *"Journal of Economic Issues*, Vol. 14, No. 1, Methodology in Economics. Symposium Issue: Part II (Mar., 1980), pp. 53-76

Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Anderies, J. M. and Abel, N. (2001) 'From Metaphor to Measurement: Resilience of What to What?', *Ecosystems*, 4(8), pp. 765–781. doi: 10.1007/s10021-001-0045-9.

Chan, A. L. S. (2012) 'Effect of adjacent shading on the thermal performance of residential buildings in a subtropical region', *Applied Energy*, 92, pp. 516–522. doi:

10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.11.063.

CIBSE (2004) Guide F - Energy efficiency in buildings Energy efficiency in buildings. CIBSE.

CIBSE (2013) The limits of thermal comfort : avoiding overheating in European buildings, CIBSE Tm52. doi: 10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.

CIBSE (2014a) *Design for future climate : case studies*. London.

CIBSE (2014b) Design for future climate : case studies.

CIBSE (2014c) 'Design Summer Years for London Design Summer Years for London', *Tm49*.

CIBSE (2014d) TM55 Design for future climate: case studies. London.

CIBSE (2015a) CIBSE Guide A: Environmental Design, CIBSE Publications. doi:

 $10.1016/0360{\text{--}}1323(94)00059{\text{--}}2.$

CIBSE (2015b) TM57: Integrated school design. Norfolk: CIBSE.

CIBSE (2017) Design methodology for the assessment of overheating risk in homes - *TM59*. London.

Cifdaloz, O., Regmi, A., Anderies, J. M. and Rodriguez, A. A. (2010) 'Robustness, vulnerability, and adaptive capacity in small-scale social- ecological systems: The Pumpa

Irrigation System in Nepal', *Ecology and Society*, 15(3).

CIRIA (2003) 'Improving the flood resistance of your home'. Available at: http://www.ciria.com/flooding/pdf/CIRIA_Advice_sheet_6.pdf (Accessed: 10 March 2017).

CIRIA (2015) The SUDS manual, Ciria. London.

Climate Change Act (2008) 'Climate Change Act 2008', in. Available at:

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/pdfs/ukpga_20080027_en.pdf.

Committee on Climate Change (2013) '2013 Progress Report to Parliament', (June), p. 253. doi: 10.1002/yd.20054.

Committee on Climate Change (2016) 'UK Climate Change - Risk Assessment 2017', *HM Government*, (January), p. 24. Available at:

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d ata/file/584281/uk-climate-change-risk-assess-2017.pdf.

Communities and Local Government (2010) *Planning Policy Statement 25: Development* and *Flood Risk, Legislation and Policy.* Available at:

http://www.communities.gov.uk/documents/planningandbuilding/pdf/planningpolicystate ment25.pdf.

Creswell, J. W. (1994). Research Design: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. Thousand Oaks. CA: Sage.

Defra (2009a) Adapting to climate change UK Climate Projections. London.

Defra (2009b) Briefing report, Circulation. London.

Defra (2012) UK Climate Change Risk Assessment: Government Report. London.

Defra and Environment Agency (2007) 'Risk Assessment for Flood Incident

Management'. Available at: www.environment-agency.gov.uk.

Department for Communities and Local Government (2012) *Investigation into Overheating in Homes: Literature Review.*

Eames, M. E. (2016) 'An Update of the UK's Design Summer Years: Probilistic Design Summer Years for Enhanced Overheating Risk Analysis in Building Design', *Journal of Building services engineering research and technology*, 37(5), pp. 503–522. doi: 10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2.

EDSL (2015a) *EDSL: Software*. Available at: http://www.edsl.net/main/Software.aspx (Accessed: 18 July 2017).

EDSL (2015b) *EDSL: Software*. Available at: http://www.edsl.net/main/Software.aspx (Accessed: 21 July 2017).

Environment Agency (2003) Harvesting rainwater for domestic uses: an information

guide, Environment Agency Reports. Bristol.

Environmental Agency (2009) 'Flooding in England: A national assessment of flood risk', *Environment Agency*, p. 36. doi: GEHO0609BQDSEP.

EPSRC (no date) *REFIT: Smart homes and energy demand reduction*. Available at: http://www.refitsmarthomes.org/ (Accessed: 20 July 2017).

European Commission (1999) *Shading systems, Solar Shading for the European climates.* Dublin.

European Commission (2015) *EUR-Lex - Acess to European Union Law*. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX%3A52015SC0242 (Accessed: 22 October 2016).

Ezzeldin, S. and Rees, S. J. (2013) 'The potential for office buildings with mixed-mode ventilation and low energy cooling systems in arid climates', *Energy and Buildings*. Elsevier B.V., 65, pp. 368–381. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2013.06.004.

Fabi, V., Andersen, R. V., Corgnati, S. P., Olesen, B. W. and Filippi, M. (2011) 'DESCRIPTION OF OCCUPANT BEHAVIOUR IN BUILDING ENERGY SIMULATION : STATE-OF-ART AND CONCEPTS FOR IMPROVEMENTS TEBE Research Group , Department of Energetics , Politecnico di Torino , Corso Duca degli ICIEE , Department of Civil Engineering , Technical Univ', in *Proceedings of Building Simulation 2011*.

Firth, S. and Cook, M. (2010) 'Natural ventilation in UK schools : design options for passive cooling', in *Adapting to Change: New Thinking on Comfort*. London.
Firth, S. K., Fouchal, F., Kane, T., Dimitriou, V. and Hassan, T. M. (2013) 'Decision support systems for domestic retrofit provision using smart home data streams', in *CIB* W78 2013 The 30th International Conference on Applications of IT in the AEC Industry. Move Towards Smart Buildings: Infrastructures and Cities, p. 10 pages. Available at: https://dspace.lboro.ac.uk/dspace-jspui/handle/2134/15904.

Folke, C., Carpenter, S. R., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Chapin, T. and Rockstrom, J. (2010) 'Resilience Thinking: Integrating Resilience, Adaptability and Transformability', *Ecology and Society*, 15(4:20). Available at: www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol15/iss4/art20 (Accessed: 3 March 2017).

Gething, B. (2010) Design for future climate. Swindon.

Gething, B. and Puckett, K. (2013) 'Design for Climate Change', pp. 44-45.

Ghisi, E. and Tinker, J. A. (2005) 'An Ideal Window Area concept for energy efficient integration of daylight and artificial light in buildings', *Building and Environment*, 40(1), pp. 51–61. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2004.04.004.

Gobio-Lamin, L. (2012) Domestic Ventilation Practices. London.

Gold, C. (2005) *Digital Terrain Modeling: Principles and Methodology, CRC Press.* doi: 10.1201/9780203357132.

Gorgolis, G. and Karamanis, D. (2015) 'Solar energy materials for glazing technologies'. doi: 10.1016/j.solmat.2015.09.040.

Gov.uk (2016) Long Term Flood Risk Information - GOV.UK, Gov.uk. Available at:

https://flood-warning-information.service.gov.uk/long-term-flood-risk/risk-long-term-flood-risk-long-term-flood-term-floo

detail?address=100081175182 (Accessed: 12 November 2016).

GOV.UK (2014) Flood risk and coastal change - GOV.UK. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-and-coastal-change#Flood-resilience-and-flood-resistance (Accessed: 10 March 2017).

Hacker, JN, Belcher, SE & Connell, R. (2005) *BEATING THE HEAT: keeping UK buildings cool in a warming climate*, *UKCIP Briefing Report*. Edited by UKCIP. Oxford. Available at: http://www.ukcip.org.uk/wp-content/PDFs/Beating_heat.pdf (Accessed: 20 February 2017).

Harwell, M. R. (2011) 'Research Design in Qualitative/Quantitative/ Mixed Methods', *Opportunities and Challenges in Designing and Conducting Inquiry, University of Minesotta*, pp. 147–182. doi: 10.4135/9781412961288.n380.

Hassler, U. and Kohler, N. (2014) 'Resilience in the built environment', *Building Research* & Information, 42, pp. 119–129. doi: 10.1080/09613218.2014.873593.

Hastings, R., Wall, M., International Energy Agency. Solar Heating and Cooling

Programme. and IEA Energy Conservation in Buildings & Community Systems

Programme. (2007) Sustainable solar housing. Earthscan. Available at:

https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=4SbqvDzIIw4C&pg=PA129&lpg=PA129&dq=effect

+of+mid+glass+pane+shading&source=bl&ots=le0jucZFpC&sig=Ri7w8HflGWCJEU_l4

L6lTnj2Exc&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwjO-b-

jmeTSAhVCJMAKHc5kCdAQ6AEILzAE#v=onepage&q=effect of mid glass pane shading&f=false (Accessed: 20 March 2017).

Howard Frumkin, Jeremy Hess, George Luber, Josephine Malilay, Michael McGeehin, "Cl imate Change: The Public Health Response", *American Journal of Public Health* 98, no. 3 (March 1, 2008): pp. 435-445.

Prieto, A., Knaack, U., Auer, T. and Klein, T. (2018) 'Passive cooling & climate responsive façade design exploring the limits of passive cooling strategies to improve the performance of commercial buildings in warm climates', Energy and Buildings. Elsevier B.V., 175, pp. 30–47. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.06.016.
Programme. and IEA Energy Conservation in Buildings & Community Systems Programme. (2007) *Sustainable solar housing*. Earthscan. Available at: https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=4SbqvDzIIw4C&pg=PA129&lpg=PA129&dq=effect +of+mid+glass+pane+shading&source=bl&ots=le0jucZFpC&sig=Ri7w8HflGWCJEU_l4 L6lTnj2Exc&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwjO-b-

jmeTSAhVCJMAKHc5kCdAQ6AEILzAE#v=onepage&q=effect of mid glass pane shading&f=false (Accessed: 20 March 2017).

HM Government (2016) National Flood Resilience Review. London.

Hubert, J., Edwards, T. and Jahromi, A. B. (2013) 'Comparative study of sustainable drainage systems', *Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers - Engineering Sustainability*, 166(3), pp. 138–149. doi: 10.1680/ensu.11.00029.

Hunter, A. M., Williams, N. S. G., Rayner, J. P., Aye, L., Hes, D. and Livesley, S. J.

(2014) 'Quantifying the thermal performance of green fa??ades: A critical review',

Ecological Engineering. Elsevier B.V., 63, pp. 102–113. doi:

10.1016/j.ecoleng.2013.12.021.

Hwang, R. L. and Shu, S. Y. (2011) 'Building envelope regulations on thermal comfort in glass facade buildings and energy-saving potential for PMV-based comfort control', *Building and Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 46(4), pp. 824–834. doi:

10.1016/j.buildenv.2010.10.009.

Infiltration - xpswmm/xpstorm 2016 Resource Center - XP Solutions Resource Center (no date). Available at: http://help.xpsolutions.com/display/xps2016/Infiltration.

Ipcc (2007) Climate Change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: contribution of Working Group II to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel, Genebra, Suíca. doi: 10.1256/004316502320517344.

IPCC (2001) 'Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis', *Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis*. doi: 10.1256/004316502320517344.

IPCC (2012) Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate change adaptation, Ipcc. doi: 10.1596/978-0-8213-8845-7.

James M. Wright (2007) 'Chapter 2, Types of Floods and Floodplains', *Floodplain Management, Principles and Current Practices*, pp. 1–18. Available at:

http://training.fema.gov/hiedu/docs/fmc/chapter 2 - types of floods and floodplains.pdf.

Jha, A. K., Bloch, R. and Lamond, J. (2013) *Flood Forecasts for Urban Basin with Integrated Hydro- Meteorological Model, Nature*. doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)1084-0699(2003)8:1(1).

Ji, Y., Lomas, K. J. and Cook, M. J. (2009) 'Hybrid ventilation for low energy building

design in south China', *Building and Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 44(11), pp. 2245–2255. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2009.02.015.

Kaboub, F., 2008. Positivist paradigm. Encyclopaedia of Counselling, 2, pp.340-344 Kamal, M. A. (2012) 'An Overview of Passive Cooling Techniques in Buildings: Design Concepts and Architectural Interventions', *Acta Technica Napocensis: Civil Engineering*

& Architecture, 55(1). Available at:

https://constructii.utcluj.ro/ActaCivilEng/download/atn/ATN2012(1)_8.pdf (Accessed: 11 March 2017).

Kolokotroni, M. and Aronis, A. (1999) 'Cooling-energy reduction in air-conditioned offices by using night ventilation', *Applied Energy*, 63(4), pp. 241–253. doi: 10.1016/S0306-2619(99)00031-8.

Kovats, S., Osborn, D. and Whitman, G. (no date) 'UK Climate Risk Assessment 2017'. Available at: https://www.theccc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/UK-CCRA-2017-Chapter-5-People-and-the-built-environment.pdf.

Kuhn, T. S. (1996) *The Structure of Scientific Revolutions, Library*. Available at: http://www.amazon.ca/exec/obidos/redirect?tag=citeulike09-

20&path=ASIN/0226458083.

Lee, I., Voogt, J. A. and Gillespie, T. J. (2018) 'Analysis and comparison of shading strategies to increase human thermal comfort in urban areas', *Atmosphere*, 9(3). doi: 10.3390/atmos9030091.

Lee, Y. and Malkawi, A. (2013) 'Simulating Human Behavior : an Agent-Based Modeling Approach', *13th Conference of International Building Performance Simulation Association*, pp. 3184–3191. Available at:

http://www.ibpsa.org/proceedings/BS2013/p 2464.pdf.

Liuzzo, L., Notaro, V. and Freni, G. (2016) 'A Reliability Analysis of a Rainfall

Harvesting System in Southern Italy', Water, 8(1), p. 18. doi: 10.3390/w8010018.

Longley, P. a., Goodchild, M. L., Rhind, M. and Rhind, D. W. (1991) 'BB1v1_ch19.pdf',

Geographic Information Systems, pp. 269–297. Available at:

http://www.wiley.com/legacy/wileychi/gis/volumes.html.

Met Office and Center for Ecology and Hydrology (2014) *The Recent Storms and Floods in the UK, Met Office*. London.

Mohelníková, J. and Altan, H. (2009) 'Evaluation of Optical and Thermal Properties of

Window Glazing'. Available at: http://www.wseas.us/e-

library/transactions/environment/2009/31-277.pdf.

Mousli, K. and Semprini, G. (2001) 'Natural ventilation and the effect on thermal comfort

as sustainable strategies in dry hot arid climate : a Case study in Damascus .', (1985), pp. 2–9. Available at: http://sbe16torino.org/papers/SBE16TO_ID030.pdf.

Mun, J. and Han, M. (2011) 'Design and operational parameters of a rooftop rainwater harvesting system: Definition, sensitivity and verification', *Journal of Environmental Management*, 93(1), pp. 147–153. Available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/661480/autu mn_budget_2017_web.pdf%0Ahttps://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/autumn-budget-2017-what-it-means.

National Institute of Building Sciences (2010) *Buildings*, *Structures*, *and Nonstructural Components*, *Earthquake-Resistant Design Concepts: An Introduction to the NEHRP Recommended Seismic Provisions for New Buildings and Other Structures, FEMA P-749*. Nirupama, N. and Simonovic, S. P. (2007) 'Increase of flood risk due to urbanisation: A Canadian example', *Natural Hazards*, 40(1), pp. 25–41. doi: 10.1007/s11069-006-0003-0. Northumberland County Council (2010) 'Northumberland County Council Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 6 Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment Guidance'. Available at: http://geosmartinfo.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/sfra/SFRA-Chapter-6-Site-Specific-Flood-Risk-Assessment-Guidance.pdf (Accessed: 10 December 2016). ODOT (2014) 'CHAPTER 8 - CHANNELS Appendix A - Hydraulic roughness

(Manning's n) Values of Conduits and Channels', *Oregon Department of Transportation Highway Division - Hydraulics Design Manual*, (3), pp. 8-A-10.

Office for National Statistics (2013) *Population and Household Estimates for the United Kingdom*. London.

Oosterlee, J. A. (2013) 'Green walls and building energy consumption: Building energy simulation', pp. 1–65.

Polinder, H., Schweiker, M., Aa, A. Van Der, Schakib-Ekbatan, K., Fabi, V., Andersen, R., Morishita, N., Wang, C., Corgnati, S., Heiselberg, P., Yan, D., Olesen, B., Bednar, T. and Wagner, A. (2013) 'Final Report Annex 53 - Occupant behavior and modeling (Separate Document Volume II)', p. 153. Available at: http://www.iea-

 $ebc.org/fileadmin/user_upload/images/Pictures/EBC_Annex_53_Appendix_Volume_2.pdf$

Prieto, A., Knaack, U., Auer, T. and Klein, T. (2018) 'Passive cooling & climate responsive façade design exploring the limits of passive cooling strategies to improve the performance of commercial buildings in warm climates', *Energy and Buildings*. Elsevier B.V., 175, pp. 30–47. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2018.06.016.

Raja, I. A., Nicol, J. F., Mccartney, K. J. and Humphreys, M. A. (2001) 'Thermal comfort:

use of control in naturally ventilated buildings', 33, pp. 235–244.

Rao, V. and Woolcock, M. (2003) 'Integrating qualitative and quantitative approaches in program evaluation', *Evaluating the poverty and distributional impact of economic*

policies (techniques and tools), pp. 165-190. doi: 10.1007/BF02360471.

Reilly, A. and Kinnane, O. (2017) 'The impact of thermal mass on building energy

consumption', Applied Energy. Elsevier Ltd, 198, pp. 108-121. doi:

10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.04.024.

Resilient Design Institute (2013) *Resilient Design Institute* /. Available at: http://www.resilientdesign.org/ (Accessed: 12 March 2017).

RIBA (2009) Climate Change Toolkit - Designing for Flood Risk. London.

Royal Academy of Engineering (2013) *Smart buildings people and performance*. London. Sadineni, S. B., Madala, S. and Boehm, R. F. (2011) 'Passive building energy savings: A review of building envelope components', *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*. Elsevier Ltd, 15(8), pp. 3617–3631. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2011.07.014.

Scholz, M. and Grabowiecki, P. (2007) 'Review of permeable pavement systems', *Building and Environment*, 42(11), pp. 3830–3836. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2006.11.016. Select Committee on Economic Affairs (2016) 'Inquiry into the economics of the UK housing market launches', (July). Available at:

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201617/ldselect/ldeconaf/20/20.pdf.

Ben Smith (2015) UNISDR Scientific and Technical Advisory Group Case Studies - 2015
Resilience in UK schools – Reducing overheating to improve health and wellbeing.
Soilscapes soil types viewer - National Soil Resources Institute. Cranfield University (no date). Available at: http://www.landis.org.uk/soilscapes/ (Accessed: 12 November 2016).
Su, X. and Zhang, X. (2010) 'Environmental performance optimization of window-wall ratio for different window type in hot summer and cold winter zone in China based on life cycle assessment', *Energy and Buildings*, 42(2), pp. 198–202. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2009.08.015.

Suriya, S. and Mudgal, B. V. (2012) 'Impact of urbanization on flooding: The Thirusoolam sub watershed - A case study', *Journal of Hydrology*. Elsevier B.V., 412–413, pp. 210–219. doi: 10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.05.008.

Teli, D., Bourikas, L., James, P. A. B. and Bahaj, A. S. (2017) 'Thermal Performance Evaluation of School Buildings using a Children-based Adaptive Comfort Model', *Procedia Environmental Sciences*. The Author(s), 38(0), pp. 844–851. doi: 10.1016/j.proenv.2017.03.170.

Teli, D., Jentsch, M. F. and Bahaj, A. S. (2011) 'Overheating risk evaluation of school

classrooms', in *World Renewable Energy Congress*. Linkoping: Low-Energy Architecture, pp. 1821–1828. doi: 10.3384/ecp110571821.

Teli, D., Jentsch, M. F. and James, P. A. B. (2012) 'Naturally ventilated classrooms: An assessment of existing comfort models for predicting the thermal sensation and preference of primary school children', *Energy and Buildings*. Elsevier B.V., 53(0), pp. 166–182. doi: 10.1016/j.enbuild.2012.06.022.

The office of public works (2012) 'F L O O D S T U D I E S U P D A T E (F S U) P R O G R A M M E W P 4.2 Flood E stimation in Smalland Urbanised C atc h m e n t s', (January).

The Royal Society (2014) Resilience to extreme weather. Available at:

https://royalsociety.org/~/media/policy/projects/resilience-climate-change/resilience-fullreport.pdf%5Cnhttps://royalsociety.org/policy/projects/resilience-extreme-weather/. (Accessed: 13 March 2016).

The UK Cabinet Office (2015) National Risk Register of Civil Emergencies, National Risk Register of Civil Emergencies. London.

Uspenskiy, A. (2013) SHADING SYSTEMS. Available at:

http://www.coolbricks.eu/fileadmin/Redaktion/Dokumente/Publications/WP4-

OP06a_BL_Shadingsystems.pdf (Accessed: 12 February 2017).

Virk, D. and Eames, M. (2016) *CIBSE Weather Files 2016 release: Technical Briefing and Testing, CIBSE Weather Files 2016 release: Technical Briefing and Testing Authors:* London.

Westra, S., Fowler, H. J., Evans, J. P., Alexander, L. V., Berg, P., Johnson, F., Kendon, E. J., Lenderink, G. and Roberts, N. M. (2014) 'Future changes to the intensity and frequency of short-duration extreme rainfall', *Reviews of Geophysics*, 52(3), pp. 522–555. doi: 10.1002/2014RG000464.

Wolf, T. (2006) 'Sustainability Driven Trends and Innovation in Glass and Glazing'. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Andreas_Wolf11/publication/242361854_Sustainabili ty_Driven_Trends_and_Innovation_in_Glass_and_Glazing/links/5559cae008ae980ca6109 13e/Sustainability-Driven-Trends-and-Innovation-in-Glass-and-

Glazing.pdf?origin=publicati.

World Health Organization (2004) *Extreme weather and climate events and public health responses*. Bratislava.

XP Solutions (2016) XP SWMM Technical description. Available at:

http://xpsolutions.com/assets/dms/xpswmm-techdesc.pdf (Accessed: 2 March 2017).